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is a democratic, accountable and transparent
society in which equitable and inclusive access
to justice, dignity and human rights are lived
realities for all.

OUR
MISSION
is to undertake evidence-informed action
focused on advancing the transformation of
South Africa as a democratic society, using the
law as an instrument to remove persistent and
pervasive structural obstacles to human rights
- with a targeted focus on land and education
rights over the next five years.
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Chairperson’s
Report

This year, the LRC also lost one of its giants when Advocate George Bizos SC passed away on 9
September 2020. He assisted the LRC from our establishment in 1979 and formally joined us in
1991, using our Centre as a base in key litigation, including leading the team for the government in
passing the Constitution in 1996, representing families of apartheid atrocities at the TRC, leading
the LRC team at the Marikana Commission, seeking justice for the Timol and other families of
people murdered in detention, and of course many other lesser-known cases, always seeking
justice for victims of injustice. George played an enormous role in mentoring many in the legal
profession inside and outside the LRC, some of whom have progressed to very senior positions
in the profession and the judiciary. We will miss his wisdom and humanity, and his legacy will
continue to inspire and guide us in our work.

THANDI ORLEYN

Despite a global pandemic, the LRC has continued to provide legal services to the marginalised
and develop the country’s laws and jurisprudence in important ways. This was the first year of
our new strategic plan and the implementation of our operational plan for the land and education
focus area. This annual report will highlight some of the most important work that has been done
this year. I would like to thank the entire LRC staff for their hard work and commitment, resulting
in excellent achievements.
The Legal Resources Trust (LRT) supports and upholds the mission and vision as stipulated in
the Constitution of the LRC and the values enshrined in the Constitution of the Republic of South
Africa. The Trust must ensure there are a sufficient number of trustees with the appropriate skills,
expertise, experience, strength, capacity and or stature to ensure that the board is able to carry out
its duties and meet the objectives of the Trust to support the work of the LRC. Trustees serve a
term of five years, which may be renewed a maximum of four times.

The LRT has two sub-committees - the Trust
Committee (TrustCo) and the Audit, Risk and
Investment Committee (ARIC). The TrustCo is
the operational arm of the LRT and is chaired
by me. The ARIC is the financial arm of the
LRT and is chaired by Ms Lumka Mlambo. The
ARIC is responsible for, inter alia, the review
of financial statements and financial reports
and making recommendations regarding
the removal/appointment of auditors. The
National Director of the LRC, Mr Nersan
Govender, sits as ex-officio on the LRT and
provides an important link between the Trust
and the Centre. I take this time to thank all
trustees for their continued support and
commitment to our crucial work.

Chairperson: LRC & LRT

In the face of this adversity, we also saw the triumph of the human spirit. We laud the work of
our healthcare workers, including all the doctors, nurses, paramedics, and medical support staff
who put their own lives in danger and worked under enormous pressure to save countless lives.
The South African spirit of ubuntu was present at every community soup kitchen, drive for food
parcels and caring neighbour who made sure those most affected by the pandemic had food to
eat and a roof over their head. We saw the introduction of a R350 social distress relief grant for
unemployed people between the ages of 18 and 59. While it was meant to be a temporary grant,
this could be the first step to securing a universal income grant in South Africa. The development
of a coronavirus vaccine is a scientific triumph, and the rollout of the vaccine to healthcare workers
and subsequently other South African citizens marked the first steps to returning to normal.

The LRT provides governance support and
oversight of the LRC and has 16 active trustees.
Trustees provide their time voluntarily,
offering a wide range of skills, including legal,
academic, finance, investment, and business,
used towards the advancement of the vision
and mission of the LRT.

While I reflect on this year, I take courage from
the fact that we have been able to continue
our work despite enormous challenges. The
LRC has continued to demonstrate its grit,
resilience and ability to adjust to an everchanging world.

THANDI ORLEYN

LEGAL RESOURCES CENTRE

It is difficult to think about the year under review without experiencing a sense of great sadness for
the immeasurable losses suffered globally because of the Covid-19 pandemic. When the first case
of the coronavirus was reported in November 2019 in China, nobody could have imagined that it
would test healthcare systems, result in millions of deaths, and dissipate all sense of normalcy.
On 23 March 2020, President Cyril Ramaphosa announced a national lockdown to curb the spread
of the virus. The closure of non-essential businesses meant that millions of people lost their jobs,
while others, such as the Legal Resources Centre (LRC) staff, shifted to working from home.
We had to get used to masks, sanitiser, and the concept of a virtual meeting. Perhaps the most
difficult adjustment has been the isolation from friends, family, and colleagues and the fear that
our loved ones may succumb to the virus. Many people lost family and friends during this period
without saying goodbye or burying them in the way they would have wanted. At the LRC, we also
mourn the loss of Valencia Morrison, who worked as a legal secretary in the Makhanda office for
11 years. She died on 15 January 2021 after contracting the coronavirus. Our thoughts remain
with her family, friends, and colleagues.
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the lrc’s FIVE-YEAR STRATEGY

Together for Land
and Education
Rights, Together
for Social Justice.
WHY the strong focus on LAND & EDUCATION rights?

LEGAL RESOURCES CENTRE

LAND
INEQUALITIES in the realisation
of LAND and EDUCATION
rights for all in South Africa
are complex. It’s not just about
lack of access. It’s also about
a PROFOUND LACK of CHOICE
and POWER.
The LRC will focus on HELPING
WITH ACCESS to LAND and
EDUCATION because of these
BLIGHTS on SOUTH AFRICAN
SOCIETY, with roots in our
country’s apartheid history,
but which is systemic even
decades after the dawn of
democracy.

Polluted
“INFORMAL
DWELLINGS”
HOUSING
BACKLOGS and
OUTSTANDING
LAND RESTITUTION
programme claims
CHILDREN living
in BACKYARD
DWELLINGS or
SHACKS

What will
change?

EDUCATION
IMBALANCE in
ownership of
ARABLE LAND by
white people, who
account for fewer
than 10% of the
population
ILLEGAL DUMPING
on land impacting
on POOR and
INFORMAL
communities

DYSFUNCTIONAL
and UNDERRESOURCED STATE
SCHOOLS

40% of learners
DROP OUT before
writing their matric
examination

LIMITED or NO
INTERNET ACCESS
at schools servicing
mainly black
learners

854,000 children
were not in school
in 2017, of whom
600,000 were
excluded on
account of their
DISABILITY

Almost 8 out of 10
Grade 4 learners
CANNOT READ
(78%).

Built on a foundation of 40
years of fighting for FREEDOM,
SOCIAL JUSTICE and
EQUALITY, the LRC is making
a shift from general advocacy
to a STRONG FOCUS on LAND
and EDUCATION RIGHTS.
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How the LRC Strategy
2020-2025 will unfold

GOAL

LEGAL RESOURCES CENTRE

GOAL

GOAL

FIVE-YEAR
STRATEGY

GOAL

the lEGAL RESOURCES CENTRE’S

1
2
3
4

Realising
Substantive
Land Rights
Furthering the creation
of an equitable society
in which land justice, absent
of discrimination and the
inter-generational legacy of
apartheid is a lived reality.

Realising
Equitable and Equal
Education Rights
A society in which
education rights and justice
are lived realities, absent of
discrimination and intergenerational poverty.

Honouring LRC
Legacy Work
Strategically winding down
the LRC’s legacy work to
focus on developing South
Africa’s shared realities on
land and education.

Management and
Administration
A transformative
organisation promoting,
defending and realising land
and education rights for all.

STRUCTURAL CHANGES:
•
•
•
•
•

Implementation of national and international laws and policies
governing land redistribution is equitable and accountable;
The state complies with its Constitutional obligations in respect of
restitution of land rights;
There is progress in the alignment of the powers and structures created
by land legislation, the Constitution and international law;
People living under traditional leadership structures are not deprived of
their international and constitutional land rights; and
People in urban areas live in safe, healthy and equitably located living spaces.

STRUCTURAL CHANGES:
•
•
•
•
•

Education resource provisioning is equitable and accountable;
Barriers preventing access to basic education for all are tangibly reduced;
Compulsory, free, quality, and inclusive
pre-primary education provision is accessible to all;
The most marginalised experience quality public basic education; and
Improved literacy levels at the foundation level are realised.

STRUCTURAL CHANGES:
•
•
•
•

All of LRC’s cases that are not linked to land or education, but which are
linked to funding, are concluded;
Our cases that are not linked to strategic education or land, and which
are not funded, are expedited;
Incorporate current land and education cases that align with Goal 1 and
Goal 2 into the operations plan; and
Deliberately protecting and maintaining the integrity and reputation of
the LRC.

STRUCTURAL CHANGES:
•
•
•
•

The LRC is financially sustainable, with reserves equivalent to 6 months
operating expenditure;
The LRC has well harnessed capacity to achieve human rights,
especially education and land rights impact;
The LRC has a strong reputation as a thought leader in securing land
and education rights justice; and
The LRC has strategically developed sustainable land and education
rights impact.
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LEGAL RESOURCES CENTRE

It is difficult to reflect here on a year that has
truly been like no other. Covid-19 has wreaked
havoc on many things we took for granted - our
health, seeing family and friends, working with
colleagues, and our freedom of movement.
Tragically, the pandemic has turned the fault
lines of societal inequality into chasms,
and the list of problems requiring “urgent”
intervention to avoid catastrophe, can now
feel overwhelming. I’m proud to say that the
Legal Resources Centre has, along with many
others, risen to the occasion.
The LRC had to quickly adapt and find new
ways to operate. This was necessary to
continue offering legal services which
became desperately needed. As we made
the transition to work from home, hotlines,
telephonic consultations with clients, sending
internet data to communities for meetings,
and Zoom and Teams sessions, all became
the norm. While much of our work could
continue - and did - there was a drop in the
number of clients seen as the hard lockdown
prevented people from visiting our offices.
Just as the pandemic took hold in South
Africa, on 1 April 2020, we kicked off our
new programmatic strategy that had been
developed over the previous 12 months. With
working remotely now the norm, this was not
the ideal environment to begin implementation,
but this did provide us with the opportunity to
iron out kinks. There was more time to do the

heavy lifting of settling a new operational plan
with over 1000 separate activities itemised
and set out in spreadsheets, given the office
closures and fewer front office clients being
seen. While this was a consultative and
very laborious process, I have no doubt that
the effort made at improving our planning
has made us a more effective organisation.
We have set strong targets and goals and a
clear set of steps to make our responses to
the pandemic as effective as possible while
keeping sight of our long-term goals of a more
just and equitable society.
This annual report will touch on some of
the highlights of the work done under
extraordinary circumstances. Some of the
LRC’s work this year has been a direct
response to the pandemic, while much of
it has been a continuation of our land and
education work, and the conclusion of work
started long before Covid-19.
In July 2020, South Africans were left horrified
when a naked Bulelani Qolani was dragged
from his shack at the eThembeni informal
settlement in Khayelitsha by the City of Cape
Town’s law enforcement agencies and the
anti-land-invasion unit (ALIU). At the time,
South Africa was in level 3 lockdown, which
meant that no evictions could take place. The
LRC intervened, and the court said the eviction
of Mr Qolani was “reminiscent of apartheidera brutal forced removals” and interdicted

evictions from taking place for the duration of the state of disaster. The court also ordered that
the city must obtain a court order before carrying out any further evictions and that the city must
undertake to execute evictions in a manner that upholds the dignity of the evicted people. We
also intervened when the City of Cape Town applied lockdown regulations inconsistently and in a
manner that was unfairly prejudicial to informal traders. Our intervention meant informal traders
could return and continue to make a living during the toughest of economic times.
Our hard work during this time has also included researching and strategising around the tragedy
unfolding in the embattled education sector. In this report, we highlight how inequitable access
to the internet is widening the education gap during the Covid-19 pandemic. Unlawful school
admission policies form another barrier to accessing the right to education, as does the exclusion
of learners from schools based on their parents’ inability to pay school fees, despite the availability
of fees exemption options. Sexual violence in schools, perpetrated by teachers or other learners,
is also a growing issue that deprives learners of their right to education. We have tackled this
through advocacy campaigns, and we will undertake further work on this issue to ensure that it is
eradicated and children can learn without interruption.
Our renewed focus on land has seen a huge upsurge in our work in this critically important area.
While much of this work will be covered in the next annual report, the year under review has seen
us conclude - legally, for now - the LRC’s 10-year involvement in the Prudhoe land claim, which we
reflect on in this report. We also review the three critically important cases which granted tens of
thousands of elderly black women property rights in marriage. Through this, we salute Elizabeth
Gumede, Thokozani Maphumulo, Matodzi Ramuhovhi and Agnes Sithole for their strength and
courage in the instrumental role they played in reversing oppressive marriage laws that disinherited
black women - a major injustice for decades.
The third programmatic leg of our new strategy
has seen us managing our legacy cases. In
this report, we explain some of the LRC’s work
on combating torture and the tools of torture.
We also speak to the ongoing problems faced
by artisanal miners.
While all of this important work has been
going on, we lost one of the LRC’s legends
and a South African legal icon on 9 September
2020. We pay tribute to George Bizos and
his indelible legacy both on the country and
here at the LRC. There were also devastating
personal losses suffered in the past year,
with many staff members losing loved ones.
Tragically, our own Valencia Morrison lost her
life to Covid-19 complications on 15 January
2021. We also pay tribute to her.
The Covid-19 pandemic has attenuated many
of the gains made in the last 27 years of
democracy. We must work much harder to
ensure that these setbacks do not become
entrenched and become a further means of
exclusion. Now more than ever, it is integral
for us to work together not only to defeat this
virus but to ensure a post-Covid world that is
more just and equitable. We remain steadfast
in realising this ideal.

National Director: LRC

National
Director’s
Report

Nersan Govender
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COMMUNICATIONS
HIGHLIGHTS
Online articles
published on
our work:

119
Television
appearances:

27

Articles in
newspapers
on our work:

61

24

Articles in national
media published by
LRC staff:

09

LEGAL RESOURCES CENTRE

10

Facebook
Page likes:

EDUCATION

Radio
appearances:

Community radio
partnerships:

05
GROWTH

Advocacy
publications:

04
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18%

19 077

GROWTH

Twitter
Followers:

6.3%

30 251

In the programmatic area of Education, the work of the Legal Resources Centre is primarily
concerned with eradicating exclusionary practices within the basic education sector. Our work
focuses on advancing and advocating for constitutional rights for all. We have identified several
socio-economic challenges that contribute to a plethora of barriers in accessing basic education,
including parental inability to pay the full or partial amount of learners’ school fees and the
insufficient information available to both parents and learners on matters of sexual violence. Of
course, these barriers were reinforced and made worse as the implications of the lockdown due
to Covid-19 pandemic took a grip in our schools. And then there are the actual barriers, often
expressed (or not) in the so-called ‘admissions policies’ of schools.

4.1 Access to the internet and the widening
education gap during Covid-19
South African schools closed their doors to physical learning in March 2020, with gradual
reopening from June, two months later. The cyclical waves of the Covid-19 pandemic mean that
schools must close their doors to learning if one of the virus’s waves coincides with a school term.
Many well-off, high fee-paying schools moved online at the onset of the national lockdown, with
some being able to continue with only a slightly adjusted curriculum because of the so-called
“two-worlds contexts” of the South African education system. Well-functioning schools were able
to organise learning packs and distribute these to learners to complete at home, with teachers
checking in with parents and learners via WhatsApp and other social media channels. Although
not ideal, education continued in a limited and modified form. In contrast, learners from resource
constrained, no-fee schools and less functional schools, many of whom live in rural areas, carry a
disproportionate burden of continuous school closures and rotational school attendance. Outside
the classroom, their learning options have often been limited to government-supported radio and
television programmes.

Pg 13
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The move to virtual and alternative forms
of learning set up a blueprint that would
later become the “common sense” way to
avoid interruption to learning considering
fluctuating Covid-19 infections in the country.
Although remote and online learning have
become central tenets of education to limit
the spread of the virus and provide continuity
of education to learners during this time,
disparities in access to the internet and
other resources have meant that these are
not a practical choice for most learners. It is
no surprise that higher-income households
are better placed to sustain online learning.
Around three-quarters of learners in fee-paying
schools have an internet connection at home,
with half also having access to a computer. In
comparison, only half of the learners in no-fee
schools have internet access at home, and
only one out of five have access to a computer.
Added to this the reality that learners who
attend no-fee schools are less likely to have a
desk, books and a separate learning space at
home or parents with post-secondary school
education to facilitate online learning and the
disparity between access to education for
rich and poor during the pandemic becomes
immense¹.

Considering the findings of NIDS-CRAM and
the barriers to education for learners during the
pandemic, the question that arises is to what
extent the impact could have been mitigated
if the system had ways of supporting tuition,
as well as learner engagement and feedback?
School connectivity and household internet
access are central hereto.
The government and the Department of Basic
Education (DBE) have been engaging with the
issue of school connectivity for many years.
The main government policy designed to
connect public schools to fast and reliable
internet, South Africa Connect (SA Connect),
was published as far back as 2013. Its goal
was to connect all schools to the internet by
2020. By 2018, however, the Department of
Telecommunications and Postal Services (DTPS)
reported that little progress had been made
due to inaction related to implementation, as
well as confusion and disagreement about
the procurement process.
Another significant government initiative to
connect schools is the Universal Service and
Access Obligations (USAO). This requires the
three major mobile service providers in South
Africa – Cell-C, MTN, and Vodacom – to each
provide internet access to 1 500 schools, as
well as to donate three laptops for teachers
and 24 laptops for learners to each school.

LEGAL RESOURCES CENTRE

Given the barriers to accessing online learning,
the contact learning time lost since March
2020 has meant that the last two decades
of learning gains in South Africa have been
compromised. According to the National
Income Dynamics Study – Coronavirus Rapid
Mobile Survey (NIDS-CRAM) research on how
Covid-19 has impacted basic education in
South Africa, as much as a year of learning
may have been lost by foundation and
intermediate phase learners since March
2020. Beyond contact learning time lost, an
estimated 650 000 to 750 000 learners have
dropped out of school since the start of
lockdown, approximately three times more
than the annual average. Learners that do
attend school have been reported to attend

school less often. This is both a result of
rotational school attendance and parents
not sending their children to school over a
fear of the virus. Adult stress over the return
of learners living in their households to
schools has decreased however, from 74%
in 2020 to 45% in early 2021, which may
signal that school attendance may increase
as Covid-19 infection rates decrease, and
lockdown restrictions are eased. The impact
of school dropout and learner attendance on
learner literacy levels and the National Senior
Certificate results are yet to be seen.

Despite its potential, USAO has been criticised
for not offering the meaningful connection that
was envisaged as service providers only have
to make the connection available, with schools
unable to fund their own continuous access².
The successful implementation of these
initiatives largely depends on cooperation
with the DBE and provincial education
departments (PEDs). For example, the
DBE should send service providers a list of
schools where connections must be set up,
exclusively listing schools with no access
to the internet. The DBE also must ensure
that schools have sufficient infrastructure to
facilitate and maintain an internet connection.
At a minimum, this requires electricity and
structurally sound, and safe school buildings.
The progress of SA Connect and USAO has
proven that there has been little communication
between the DBE, service providers, and
schools and that upgrading infrastructure has
not been given the urgency it requires.

²
¹

Vijay Reddy, Crain Soudien, and Lolita Winnaar “Disrupted learning during Covid-19: The impact of school closures
on education outcomes in South Africa” (July 2020) 18(3) HSRC Review 10-11.

³

With the slow progress in bringing schools
online, most learners were not computer or
internet proficient when the pandemic hit.
This is further exacerbated by the fact that
only 36 million out of South Africa’s 60 million
population are active mobile internet users³.
Given the current situation, the question
arises as to how we can mitigate the widening
education gap given the reliance on online
learning during the pandemic which, given all
indications, will be a part of our lives for the
near future. The answer is not to take away
virtual and alternative forms of learning where
it can be accessed and accommodated,
but to think creatively around learning for
those who do not have the same privileges.
Connecting all learners immediately is an
impossible feat. Rather, the few success
stories of the pandemic envision alternative
education and the coming together of various
stakeholders. We have seen directives forcing
internet service providers and phone network
operators to drop prices and scale up zero-

The Global Human Rights Clinic, ALT Advisory, Acacia Economics & Media Monitoring Africa “Access denied:
Internet access and the right to education in South Africa” (2020) ISBN 978-1-7334730-7-1.
https://www.statista.com/statistics/685134/south-africa-digital-population/;https://www.worldometers.info/worldpopulation/south-africa-population/.
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rated apps and websites, various television
learning channels, and the distribution of
printed resources. Although these stories
show imagination in the face of adversity, they
also leave a bitter taste. They show us that the
DBE and the government come empty-handed
when they must deliver on their promises - a
combination of their own shortcomings and
the unequal education system that they have
inherited. They illustrate that we have a long
way to go to the constitutional guarantee of
equal education for everyone. They are also
a stark reminder that, as a country, we face
seemingly insurmountable hurdles to get the
basics right.
As a public interest organisation with education
as one of our focus areas, the Legal Resources
Centre has a significant role in furthering
research on virtual and alternative forms
of learning in South Africa, considering the
unique challenges that we face. In this regard,
the LRC can bring stakeholders together to
advocate for, and facilitate, the design of a
zero-rated online education platform by the
DBE. Public school learners are taught the
same syllabus with the same outcomes and
ultimately write the same set of school-exit
assessments during the National Senior
Certificate examinations. A zero-rated online
education platform with a straightforward
design that contains content and assessment

for each grade would allow learners to access
education with any cell phone, tablet, or
computer. The DBE should, furthermore, be
encouraged to engage with the national
government to set up one television channel
per grade where content and assessments for
each grade is covered in an analogous manner
as the zero-rated online learning platform.
During a pandemic, this would mean that
learning can continue, albeit with an adjusted
curriculum. Beyond the pandemic, a zerorated online learning platform can enhance
learning and contribute to ensuring that no
learner is left behind. The idea is not for online
learning to replace contact learning, but that
we start thinking outside the four walls of the
classroom.
What has become clear over the past year
is that unequal internet access is further
widening the existing education gap between
urban and rural areas and rich and poor.
Inevitably, it also has racial implications
because of apartheid spatial planning and the
continued socio-economic inequalities that
divide individuals along racial lines. The DBE
and PEDs will have to step up and address the
multitude of issues that present significant
barriers to the right of all children to equitable
education or contend with more learners
falling behind. If our children are our future,
our future is at stake.

LEGAL RESOURCES CENTRE

4.2 Breaking barriers to access: advocating
for equal access and enjoyment of the right
to basic education for all
While every child has the universal right to free primary education that is free from discrimination
of any kind, a multitude of barriers exist that hinder this right for many children. As a result, many
- especially poor children – find themselves excluded from the education system due to factors
beyond their control and, inevitably, are further excluded from higher education and are relegated
to a life that perpetuates the cycle of poverty. This is especially concerning in South Africa, where
40% of learners drop out before reaching matric. Despite the presence of legislative and policy
frameworks that protect, promote, and seek to advance this right, there are various challenges that
learners and parents of learners are constantly faced with in accessing this right, some of which
include lack of access to knowledge or insufficient knowledge to fully exercise this right effectively
and adequately, as well as barriers that exclude learners from full enjoyment of this right.

Part of our work in 2020/2021 focused on
two challenges: the exclusion of learners
from schools due to financial reasons, and
the prevalence of sexual violence in schools,
perpetrated by other learners or teachers. Girls
are especially vulnerable to sexual abuse in
school. However instances of abuse are hard
to determine as many cases go unreported.
With these in mind, we developed advocacy
campaigns around these issues during the
2020/21 period.
Specifically, we developed two informational
guides titled “Sexual Violence and Harassment
in Schools” and “Fee Exemption and Debt
Collection” as a means to develop insight into

these issues and the ways in which they can
be overcome so that learners can continue
to access education unhindered. Sexual
misconduct by both teachers and other
learners, and the inability to afford schools
fees, are some of the barriers to accessible
education. It is therefore crucial to develop
accessible materials on these topics to better
equip learners, parents and schools on the
mechanisms available to ensure that learners’
right to education is not infringed upon. Our
advocacy around both these topics formed
part of the greater impact we seek to attain
in dismantling barriers to accessing basic
education for all learners irrespective of age,
background, financial status and nationality.
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4.3 Challenging discriminatory
school admission policies
Sexual violence and harassment in schools:
Information for learners

School fees exemptions and school fees
debt collection

There is an alarmingly high level of sexual
violence against learners both inside and
outside the classroom. Some cases have
occurred on the learner’s way to or from
school. According to a report by the South
African Council of Educators (SACE), sexual
violence in schools has increased by 230% in
the past five years, indicating a growing and
serious issue for learners. This publication
was targeted at learners aged 12 to 18 years
and is aimed at creating awareness amongst
learners of sexual violence and harassment in
schools. The guide highlighted the mechanisms
that exist to report incidents and also
described the laws that protect learners from
sexual violence and harassment in schools.

The second pamphlet was designed just in
time for the commencement of the 2021
school year which is when fee exemption
applications start being accepted. This was
created as an information guide for parents
who are faced with financial difficulties in
securing either full or partial funding for
their children’s school fees. Most families
were affected by the announcement of the
national state of disaster in 2020 and the
subsequent national lockdown which resulted
in many sectors of the economy closing and
jeopardising household incomes. There were
growing concerns around this topic as we
were approached by several parents whose
children were threatened with suspension
and expulsion due to falling into arrears with
school fees. This was also a grave concern for
our asylum seeker and refugee clientele, most
of whom were informally employed and had
lost their sources of income entirely.
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We developed this guide to assist learners with
the information necessary for them to identify
acts of sexual violence and harassment and
to provide learners with an understanding
of how to report instances of sexual abuse
in schools perpetrated by both educators
and other learners, especially older ones.
The pamphlet was uploaded to our website
and shared via our social media channels,
reaching approximately 4000 people.

This pamphlet was intended to assist parents
in navigating their lawful options for ensuring
their children continue accessing education
without their financial status excluding them.
The information guide not only assisted our
client but many other parents who had no
knowledge of their right to fee exemption or
what the process to apply for an exemption
was. One hundred copies of the pamphlet
were printed and distributed from the LRC’s
Cape Town office. The pamphlet was also
uploaded to the LRC website, the link to which
was shared via our social media channels
where as many as 4 560 people were reached.

A client visited our regional office seeking advice after his child had been suspended
from school due to falling into arrears. This father had never missed making payments
to the school however, he had lost his income entirely due to the effects of Covid-19.
He notified the school of his difficulties and, even though they knew that he was eligible
for conditional fee exemption, they failed to advise him of this. We advised our client of
his rights and proceeded to write to the school, reminding the school of learners’ right
to not be excluded on the basis of fee arrears. The suspension of our client’s child was
lifted, and he went back to school. Our client was afforded a conditional exemption from
paying school fees and his child’s rights to education and dignity were restored.

The lack of access to, and the inclusivity of, school admission policies in public schools across the
country is another of the barriers to the right to basic education that the Legal Resources Centre
has identified. Through our research, we have discovered that thousands of schools either do not
have written admission policies or their admission policies are not readily accessible. Furthermore,
many learners are barred from admission to schools due to discriminatory admissions policies
or the discriminatory application of otherwise lawful admissions policies. Collectively, these
practices hinder the basic education rights of learners.
In March 2021, the LRC was involved in what has become known as the “tattoo case”, wherein a
grade 10 pupil was refused admission to Shea O’Connor Secondary School near Pietermaritzburg
due to the tattoos she had on her arm. According to the principal, Shea O’Connor’s admission
policy prohibited the admission of learners with tattoos and gold teeth to the school. The principal,
however, could not provide the parent with the admission policy the school relied on to make this
decision. Section 5 of the South African Schools Act 84 of 1996 (SASA) prohibits the refusal of a
learner’s admission on a discriminatory and/or arbitrary basis as this would be unconstitutional.
As such, the LRC assisted the learner by instituting legal proceedings in the Pietermaritzburg
High Court, hoping to have the decision to refuse the learner admission by the school declared
unconstitutional and to compel the principal and the school governing body to admit the learner and
implement a catch-up learning programme for her as she had been denied education for three months.
The tattoo case provides a useful illustration of how admission policies are often relied on to
refuse learners access to education on arbitrary or ad hoc basis. It further illustrates the challenges
arising out of a failure of schools to make their admissions policies accessible. In the tattoo case,
the principal refused to provide the LRC with the school’s admission policy which he relied on to
refuse her admission, thus discriminating against the learner and denying her access to schooling.
Without access to the admission policy of a school, neither parents, lawyers, nor learners have the
opportunity to scrutinise a policy used to refuse access to a learner and to determine the reasons
access has been denied. Following the launch of proceedings in the Pietermaritzburg High Court
to compel the school to admit the learner by the LRC, the school agreed to settle the matter.
The learner was admitted to the school, and her parent provided with the school’s admission policy.
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From the school’s own admission policy, it
was clear that the policy had been incorrectly
applied. The Shea O’Connor admission policy
provided that a learner could have tattoos,
but they could not be openly displayed.
The learner had provided this undertaking
(to cover her tattoos at school) from the onset.
Parents in the Western Cape have raised
concerns about admission policies that are
discriminatory and prejudicial to learners from
disadvantaged communities. A major concern
is that some policies provide admission only
to learners who live in the area around the
school. This poses a problem for learners
who live in areas with schools that are poorly
resourced, particularly areas that were formed
in terms of apartheid legislation and spatial
planning. Parents have complained that
such policies, which prohibit learners from
poor areas from attending better-resourced
schools, perpetuate the segregation of
communities and confine children to areas
that provide them with low-quality education.
The parents’ concerns highlight the fact
that many admissions policies remain
influenced by spatial segregation and its
resultant inequalities and injustices, as these
policies have the effect of forcing learners in
marginalised communities to attend poorly
resourced schools.

The Department of Basic Education (DBE)
recently issued a draft Admissions Policy
for Ordinary Public Schools, which aims
to address some of the aforementioned
issues. The draft policy prohibits, inter alia,
admissions tests (unless for admission to
a specialised technical or artistic school);
withholding of school reports; discriminatory
terms in admission policies; and refusing
admission based on language ability. The
draft policy also provides for the relaxation of
the rules relating to feeder zones.

The LRC has made extensive recommendations and comments on the draft policy. Our submissions
highlighted some shortcomings in the amended draft policy and as such, we made recommendations
towards the policy’s improvement. Some of the recommendations are as follows:
•

While we welcomed the inclusion of the requirement that schools must make their admission
policies available to the HoD for approval, in the amended draft policy, the current admissions
policy requires principals to provide their respective HoDs with their school’s admission policy.
However, many principals still fail to do so. This may explain the failure of seven of the nine
PEDs to provide admission policies of schools in their provinces to the LRC when requested
to do so. The inclusion of the “for approval” requirement may encourage more SGBs to submit
their admissions policies to the HoD. In this regard, the LRC recommended that the amended
draft policy should prescribe how the SGB of a public school should submit their admission
policy to the HoD for approval. For example, the admissions policy could insert provisions that
clearly state when a school’s admission policy must be submitted to the HoD when prior
approval by the HoD is needed and that the HoD should be notified of any intended changes to
the school’s admission policy by its SGB before the changes are put into effect. Setting out
clear directives of this nature would remove any confusion about the obligations of the SGB,
and SGBs can be held accountable should they fail to provide their admissions policies to the
HoD in the manner prescribed in the admissions policy.

•

Currently, non-citizens are required to provide a birth certificate upon application to a
school. The LRC submitted that this requirement should be replaced to allow for an asylum
visa, refugee visa or study visa to be submitted in place of a birth certificate. The judgment in
the LRC’s matter Centre for Child Law and Others v Minister of Basic Education and Others
(the Phakamisa judgment) declared that the admission of undocumented learners is mandatory.
The LRC, therefore, submitted that the amended policy be re-drafted to include mandatory
clauses for schools to admit undocumented learners. This would ensure that the policy meets
the legal standard established in the Phakamisa judgment.

•

The LRC submitted that pregnancy, gender identity, sex characteristics, and documentation
status must all be expressly included in the list of protected grounds on which learners seeking
admission may not be discriminated against.

The LRC submits that school admission policies should allow for the admission of learners into
schools in a manner that is constitutionally compliant by, inter alia, allowing undocumented learners
into schools and by prohibiting the exclusion of learners from schools on discriminatory grounds.
They should further include accountability measures which can be done by expressly requiring
SGBs to submit their most recent admissions policies to respective HoDs. These measures will
ensure that admissions policies are not used as a tool to prevent learners from accessing basic
education. School admission policies must be compatible with the Constitution, transparent, and
accessible. The department of basic education, provincial education departments, and heads
of departments must take responsibility to ensure that admission policies meet constitutional
standards in form, substance, and in the manner in which they are applied.
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The preclusion of learners from accessing
schools in areas that are better resourced and
offer a higher standard of education is one
way they are condemned to a life of poverty
and exclusion. This is but one way admission
policies across the country are used as an
arbitrary means of exclusion.

The tattoo case and the various instances
of the exclusion of learners on the basis
of where they live, in the Western Cape,
highlight the inequalities and injustices that
arise from admissions policies that are
incongruent with constitutional standards.
The head of department (HoD) of each
Provincial Department of Education (PED)
is responsible for ensuring that each school
has an admission policy that conforms with
the Constitution. The LRC recently submitted
nine applications in terms of the Promotion of
Access to Information Act 2 of 2000 (PAIA) to
each PED requesting access to the admission
policies of a randomised selection of schools
that fall under its respective jurisdiction.
Once received, an analysis of the admissions
policies will be conducted to determine
whether the policies are constitutionally
compliant and if they could be applied in a
manner that is discriminatory or otherwise
act as a barrier to accessing education.
The LRC will then consider challenging any
policies that are discriminatory or fail to meet
constitutional standards.
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LAND
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The land programme draws from years of the Legal Resources Centre’s experience resisting
forced removals and, since 1994, assisting client communities to successfully claim back
dispossessed land, insisting on due process in post-settlement support, securing land-based
livelihoods for landless people, asserting the constitutional protection of customary and other
forms of property rights previously disregarded by a legal system that recognised common-law
ownership exclusively and pursuing relief for vulnerable communities’ rights to land associated
benefits such as fishing and water.

5.1 The Vrede Dairy fiasco:
holding government to account

The Legal Resources Centre’s intervention
in this matter is rooted in South Africa’s
history of land dispossession and the dire
need for equitable land reform. South Africa’s
history makes land reform an imperative for
its socio-economic benefits and the belief
that a successful land reform programme
can promote growth crucial for political
stability. The objective of redistributing land
to a specific number of beneficiaries is also
important as, for any land reform programme
to be effective, it should not replicate structural
inequalities but rather break them down. It is
in this context that the LRC challenged the
public protector’s investigation and report into
the irregularities and corruption in one of the
state’s land redistribution projects.

of Thembalihle and that they would each
get a few cows and the milk would go to
the dairy. In April 2012, Estina (Pty) Ltd,
which presented itself - falsely, it would turn
out - as being in partnership with an Indian
company with technical expertise, submitted
a business proposal for the establishment
and management of the Vrede Dairy Project.
In early July 2012, the Department appointed
Estina to establish and manage the Vrede
Dairy Project, but they failed spectacularly.
Complaints concerning the Vrede Dairy
Project - alleging maladministration, noncompliance with environmental requirements
and that between 40 and 100 cows had died
and their carcases dumped in a stream - were
lodged with the public protector.

In 2012, the Free State Department of
Agriculture launched a provincial policy
intervention intended to revitalise the
Free State agricultural sector through
investment in various initiatives. The Vrede
Dairy Project was identified as a flagship
project and was intended to uplift the Vrede
community through sustainable job creation
opportunities. Residents in the area were told
by the Provincial Department of Agriculture
that hundreds of cows would be bought and
distributed to farmers in the local township

In a 2014 provisional report by Thuli Madonsela,
Busisiwe Mkhwebane’s predecessor as public
protector, she found that the Vrede Dairy
Project was mired in corruption. The report
illustrated the corrupt control exercised over
the Vrede Dairy Farm project to pilfer millions
of taxpayer Rands from the public purse and
how senior provincial officials - including
HoD Peter Thabethe, MEC Mosebenzi Zwane
and Premier Ace Magashule - may have
been complicit.
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On assuming office in October 2016, Mkhwebane inherited the provisional report prepared by
her predecessor. In 2018, Mkhwebane quietly released her version of the report, highlighting
procurement irregularities, “gross negligence” and maladministration related to the controversial
project. As remedial action, she recommended that Magashule “initiate and institute disciplinary
action against all implicated officials involved in the Vrede dairy project”.
The Vrede report, entitled “Allegations of maladministration against the Free State Department of
Agriculture - Vrede Integrated Dairy Project” was compiled in response to reports of widespread
corruption, maladministration and impropriety surrounding the Vrede Integrated Dairy Project.
Inexplicably, the report absolved politically connected role-players of any wrongdoing.
The LRC represented the Council for the Advancement of the South African Constitution (CASAC)
to review and set aside the report of the public protector on the Vrede Dairy Project and obtain a
declaratory order that the public protector had failed to carry out her investigative duties. Openness,
accountability and transparency are essential to land redistribution projects. The failure to observe
and maintain proper monitoring and accountability systems has led to a pattern whereby the elite
and politically connected are reported to unduly benefit from land redistribution support whilst
the intended and publicised beneficiaries who require land redistribution measures are left with
unfulfilled hopes and dreams of equitable access to land.
The public protector has the power to investigate any conduct in state affairs or in the public
administration in any sphere of government that is alleged or suspected to be improper or to result
in any impropriety or prejudice; to report on that conduct and to take appropriate remedial action.
Chapter 9 institutions thus have the dual role of providing a check on government power as well
as contributing to transformation. Unfortunately, as this case demonstrates, the public protector
appears to be insufficiently independent due to severely contentious decisions and reports.
As the LRC’s pleadings pointed out, the beneficiaries of the Vrede Dairy Project - black emerging
farmers who were promised five cows each as part of the redistribution and empowerment
project - ought to have taken centre stage in the public protector’s investigation of the complaint.
They were, after all, the vulnerable citizens for whom the public protector’s office was specifically
created. The litigation sought openness and accountability from state institutions that exist to
interrogate and hold accountable the public servants tasked with promoting land reform projects
in our country.

On 20 May 2019, Judge Tolmay, in the Pretoria
High Court found that, in investigating and
reporting on the Vrede Dairy Project for the
purposes of her report, the public protector
had failed in her duties under section 6 and 7
of the Public Protector Act and section 182
of the Constitution. The Judge accordingly
set aside the report and declared it unlawful,
unconstitutional and invalid. She further
ordered the public protector to pay costs,
including in her personal capacity.
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The court found that the report was too narrow
and appeared to ignore the issues raised by
an earlier treasury report, the media reports
and the complaints lodged. There appeared
to be no logical and legitimate explanation
for narrowing the scope of the investigation
to such an extent that the public protector
did not, inter alia, investigate who the true
beneficiaries of the Vrede Dairy Project were,
which was fundamental to the report.
The court held that the public protector’s failure
to properly investigate the complaints was
irrational and ignored relevant considerations,
and her proposed remedial action that senior

officials implicated in the corruption act as
arbitrators of disciplinary proceedings of
lower-ranking, scapegoated departmental
employees was not an appropriate or
effective remedy. The Pretoria High Court’s
judgment emphasises the enormity of the
public protector’s failure to issue a report
which properly identified the high-profile
individuals who profited at the expense of
poor communities.
Charges have now been brought against
political high-flyers in the Estina dairy case.
Investigations continue and, significantly, the
work of the Zondo commission of enquiry into
state capture is now accessible to the NPA.
The social and economic crisis that has
followed the Covid-19 pandemic is already
shaking the foundations of South Africa’s
democracy. Unless addressed, the failure to
equitably redistribute land will contribute to
dissatisfaction, creating fertile ground for
authoritarian forms of populism. It is urgent
that land policies provide real opportunities to
create jobs, increase the incomes of the poor
and enhance livelihoods.
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5.2 The Prudhoe Land Claim:
providing ongoing support
The LRC has been working with the Prudhoe Community since 2010, seeing them through a
successful land claim in 2018 and then supporting them to establish a community trust. But the
Prudhoe story begins long before the involvement of the LRC: in December 1998, the Prudhoe
Community lodged a land claim using the (then) newly proclaimed Restitution of Land Rights Act
(the Restitution Act), seeking restoration of 26 farms measuring 10 000 hectares between the Fish
and Mpekweni rivers in the Eastern Cape. They had called the land home since the late 1700s. The
community had been forcibly removed from these farms by the Ciskei government in 1987.
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As Barnes AJ stated in her judgment in the Land Claims Court, “The relevant history
with which we are concerned stretches from the racist colonial policies of the 1800s
to the ravages of Apartheid’s forced removals in the 1980s. It demonstrates, with
sickening clarity, how black South African’s were dispossessed incrementally, of land
independence and dignity”.

The claim of the Prudhoe Community was
contested by the neighbouring Mazizini
Community, who claimed 85 farms in the area,
including the 26 farms claimed by the Prudhoe
Community. While the Prudhoe Community
are members of the amaGqunukwebe clan
(a subdivision of the amaXhosa nation) that
occupied the disputed land as far back as
the late 1700s and which occupation was
recognised in treaties with the British, the
Mazizini4 community are part of the larger
“Mfengu” clans, who are descendants of
refugees displaced by the Mfecane wars which
saw mass migrations of Nguni people out of
Kwa-Zulu Natal during the reign of Shaka. The
Mazizini were also granted land in the Eastern
Cape through treaties with the British colony
in 1845 to the immediate north-west of the
area occupied by the amaGqunukwebe, but
their land was granted to them in exchange
for assistance to repel any attacks on the
colony by amaXhosa tribes. The Mazizini
were to serve as a human buffer between the
colony and the amaGqunukwebe and other
amaXhosa tribes.

4

The amaGqunukwebe were forced out of
their area along the coastal belt by the British
during the War of the Axe in 1847, and previous
treaties with both the amaGqunukwebwe and
the Mazizini were torn up by proclamation.
Despite having lost their chief and any formal
title to their land, some amaGqunukwebe
remained in the area, and some took up
employment on the newly surveyed farms
being given to white colonists along the verdant
coastal belt. These remnants of the dispersed
amaGqunukwebe are the direct ancestors
of the present-day Prudhoe community.
Even though they were now living on land
annexed by the British, they continued to
observe their customs and fall under the
leadership of four headmen as the population
grew over the next 120 years. The Mazizini,
on the other hand, were not forced off their
lands by war and remained on the land they
still currently occupy, which is slightly inland.
That land was eventually declared to be tribal
authority land and was granted to the Mazizini
Chiefs named Msutu, Dabi, and Njokweni.

Map of the Stockenstrom
Treaty System

During the late 1970s and early 1980s, the
South African government created the
nominally independent “Ciskei” to further its
apartheid agenda of forcing black people to
live separately from the rest of the country.
Many white farms were expropriated to
make way for the “homeland”, including
those farms that form the main subject of
this dispute and where the remnants of the
amaGqunukwebe had lived. As white farmers
left, the amaGqunukwebe farmworkers were
able to take full control of the farms and
farmed them independently for more than
10 years. But in the late 1980s, more than
100 families were forcibly removed from
those farms by the Ciskei government,
ostensibly to make way for large-scale statecontrolled agricultural developments which
never materialised. The families were dumped
on a vacant piece of land called “Prudhoe
farm” and received no compensation from
the former Ciskei government nor assistance
to rebuild their lives there. A hundred and
forty years after being brutally removed by
the British during the “War of the Axe”, the
pastoral community was again upended.

As the Prudhoe community tried to regroup
and rebuild on a small piece of land with
virtually no space for agriculture, South
Africa itself transformed in ways that few had
predicted. The first democratic elections were
held in 1994, and a priority piece of legislation
was swiftly passed in 1996 (the Restitution
Act) to begin the process of undoing the
country’s history of racially motivated
land dispossession that was so painfully
illustrated by the story of the Prudhoe
people. Despite both the Prudhoe and
Mazizini communities lodging land claims,
the Regional Land Claims Commission,
tasked with investigating the validity of the
claims and making recommendations to
the government regarding restoration or
compensation, inexplicably sided with the
Mazizini Community and processed and
furthered their claim while ignoring Prudhoe’s.
An adequate explanation has never been
provided by the Commission for favouring the
claim of the Mazizini over Prudhoe’s. None
of the four research reports prepared for the
Commission supported their stance.

The correct nomenclature is “amaZizi” but the term used in the court pleadings will be used for the sake of consistency.

Pg 27

ANNUAL REPORT 2020/21

Pg 28

The Mazizini also contended that the Prudhoe Community was actually part of the Mazizini
community and formed part of their claim. (This practice has become worryingly common in
numerous land cases where bogus land claimants attempt to “piggyback” on valid claims). The
land claimed was also contentious as the Fish River Sun Hotel and Golf Course was situated on
one of the 26 portions of land, and this raised the stakes considerably. Rumours of corruption
abounded, and it was alleged that prominent members of the Commission were aligning
themselves to benefit once the hotel was awarded to the Mazizini.
After numerous stops and starts, the trial in the Land Claims Court was finally concluded in
November 2017 and the Court found, in a thorough and well-written judgment handed down in
April 2018, that the Prudhoe claimants constituted a community and had a valid claim in respect
of all the farms.

Working with clients
The immediate Prudhoe Community is now comprised of approximately 300 households located
on roughly 10 hectares of land. The broader community includes people who no longer reside
at Prudhoe full time but have moved to towns and cities to find work. The land claim was driven
by the “Prudhoe Land Claim Committee” that was comprised of eight men and four women, the
majority of whom lived in Prudhoe, with three members residing in Gqeberha. The committee was
led by the strong-willed and efficient Mr Gladman Tom – a 63-year-old who had grown up on one of
the 26 farms and whose father had been a headman. Mr Tom had already left to work on the mines
in Johannesburg when his family was forcibly removed to Prudhoe, but he has vivid memories of
the trauma it caused to his whole family and the upheaval it brought to the community.
The composition of the Prudhoe Land Claim Committee changed several times over the 10 years
we represented them, but Mr Tom was a constant member and provided important stability and
continuity. Mr Tom and his committee approached the LRC in March 2010 when they heard that
the Land Claims Court had awarded the Fish River Sun Hotel to the Mazizini. They were upset,
agitated, and desperate for help. Despite this, and like we are with so many potential clients due
to limited capacity and resources, we were cautious about agreeing to assist them. We were also
reluctant to try to set aside an award of valuable land to a large black community (the Mazizini)
simply because there was a disgruntled committee in our office. But the Prudhoe Committee
was organised, had mountains of documents supporting them, including research reports
commissioned by the RLCC themselves that reinforced their case and were willing to give us as
much of their time as was needed to get to the bottom of the story.
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Map setting out the competing claims of the Prudhoe Community, Mazizini Community, and Tarfield Community

Restoration of the land, including the Fish River Hotel and Golf Course, was ordered5. The Court
also dismissed the claim of the Mazizini in respect of those farms but found that the Mazizini had
a valid betterment claim in respect of their tribal areas, which was not disputed by the Prudhoe
Community. Even though this was a resounding victory, it had come 20 years after the community
lodged their land claim and was an indictment of a completely dysfunctional land restitution
system. Sadly, of the original 124 heads of household in the Prudhoe Community, 109 have died
since lodgement of the claim.

5

The Prudhoe Community was not awarded restoration of one of the claimed farms which had been transferred
into the name of a black farmer in 1994 from the Ciskei government.

Prudhoe Community members in front of the LRC office in Makhanda.
From left to right - Cecile van Schalkwyk (LRC attorney), Zenzele Ngcolomba, Gladman Tom, Mr Gadla,
Cameron McConnachie (LRC attorney), Mieta Dyantyi, and Ethel Libi (LRC secretary) (Photo by Sue Maclennan)
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These proved to be some of the community’s most endearing and important traits throughout
the 10 years of the legal process that we have been involved. They met regularly and discussed
everything and wanted their legal team (sometimes to our great frustration) to be a part of as many
of those meetings as possible. They kept excellent records of meetings, correspondence, reports,
pleadings, government gazettes and anything else that came their way. They were also willing to
drop everything at any time to seek out the information we needed to move their case forward. Mr
Tom’s commitment to the community and their cause has been long-standing and selfless. While
divisions and breakups within communities during land claims are commonplace in South Africa,
Prudhoe’s ability to remain unified despite many challenging and potentially divisive decisions
having to be taken during the lengthy litigation process has been exemplary.

Prudhoe Community members outside the Port Alfred Magistrate’s Court following the trial in the Land Claim’s Court
(sitting in Port Alfred)

LEGAL RESOURCES CENTRE

The three years since judgment was initially handed down have been hugely frustrating for the
Prudhoe Community. Desperate to get on with various projects and to return to their lands, they
have been forced to bide their time and avoid disputes developing. A major problem has been the
number of potential “investors” and “consultants” that have approached the community seeking to
offer their services and sign deals. All appeared to have no interest in assisting the community, and
they all seemed intent on extracting profits and income in exchange for very little responsibility.
As the LRC does not possess the skills to advise on best practices for developing the land,
the investment vehicles to be used, or the most effective legal entities to set up to control and
administer the various commercial practices - we have approached the Border Rural Committee
(BRC), an NGO specialising in land reform with a focus on restitution and post-settlement
support6. The BRC have an impressive track record in helping other rural communities navigate
the complexities of rural, agricultural development. The director of BRC is now an independent
trustee of the recently registered amaGqunukwebe-Prudhoe Community Trust. The registration
of the trust means that the state can now begin transferring the farms awarded to the community
into the name of the trust. With a long “to-do” list, the trust’s first challenge includes obtaining possettlement support commitments from the Department of Rural Development and Land Reform
and finding investors and managers who can keep the hotel going during a tourism disaster.
Importantly, while the Prudhoe matter is a tragic tale of a people being chased from their land by
two governments and actively obstructed from reclaiming their land by a third – they have finally
been given the hope of return by an independent judiciary.

6

See BRC website at https://brc21.co.za “The BRC seeks to defend human rights and democracy in rural areas,
promote land reform (with a focus on betterment restitution), support community environmental initiatives and
promote sustainable livelihoods in rural areas.”

LRC legal team outside the SCA in February 2020. From left to right: Alan Dodson SC, Cameron McConnachie,
Cecile van Schalkwyk, Mr Gladman Tom, Christine Eberly (Canadian Bar intern), Advocate Lunga Siyo
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5.3 Legal trilogy:
constitutional triumph as ground-breaking
judgments grant elderly black women access
to matrimonial property rights
Accessing land ownership and property rights
is inextricably linked to the power of selfdetermination. This is especially fundamental
for a class of persons historically oppressed
by society and the law: elderly black women.
Preventing access to control and the
ownership of property not only oppresses this
class of women, but it also disregards section
25 (5) of the Constitution, which provides that
the state must take reasonable legislative and
other measures, within its available resources,
to foster conditions which enable citizens to
gain access to land on an equitable basis.
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A trilogy of cases has resulted in the
Constitutional Court striking down the
legislation in a bid to foster security of tenure,
financial freedom and dignity in old age for
black women. Elizabeth Gumede, Thokozani
Maphumulo, Matodzi Ramuhovhi and Agnes
Sithole are four brave women who reversed
the deep scars inflicted by oppressive
marriage laws dealing with the property rights
of black women.
In South Africa, land and property are highly
contested issues that have forged racial
and socio-economic barriers that threaten
the democratic society envisioned by our
Constitution. The Recognition of Customary
Marriages Act 120 of 1998 (RCMA), the
KwaZulu Act on the Code of Zulu Law,
the Natal Code of Zulu Law, the Black
Administration Act, and the Matrimonial
Property Act are statutes that contained
provisions that effectively hindered black
women’s right of access to property. The LRC
has systematically attacked these pieces
of legislation that perpetuated the denial
of women’s access to and control of family
property both during and upon the dissolution
of customary marriages.
Over the past 10 years, the LRC has worked
to assist these women in protecting them
against eviction by their husband’s families
upon death of the husband or by their
husbands upon the dissolution of a marriage.
Women play a crucial role in building the
family home, and while their contribution

might not be easy to quantify financially, their
labour must be recognised. Women often
serve as caregivers while helping acquire,
build, and maintain family homes alongside
their husbands.
It all began when Mrs Gumede approached
the LRC for assistance with her divorce which
would have rendered her destitute. Mrs.
Gumede challenged the constitutionality of
section 7 of the RCMA. The Gumedes married
in 1968 before the RCMA was promulgated.
Mr. Gumede instituted divorce proceedings
against Mrs Gumede in 2003. Mrs Gumede
argued that she suffered unfair discrimination
by having no access to or control over family
property and would have been left vulnerable
and homeless in her old age both during and
upon termination of her customary marriage.
Provisions in the RCMA, the KwaZulu Act and
the Natal Code were central to the controversy.
In KwaZulu-Natal, where the couple lived,
customary law is codified in the KwaZulu Act
and Natal Code. Both statutes provided that
the husband, as the family head, was the
owner of all family property, and the wife had
no claim to the property during the marriage or
if the marriage dissolved. Additionally, section
22 of the Natal Code provided that “inmates”
of a kraal were under the control of the family
head. In an application opposed by the state,
the Durban High Court in 2008 found in favour
of Mrs Gumede and declared section 7 (1) of
the RCMA, section 20 of the KwaZulu Act and
Natal Code, and section 22 of the Natal Code
unconstitutional and invalid.

In determining whether to confirm the Durban
High Court’s decision, the Constitutional Court
found in 2009 that the ability to argue for the
redistribution of property upon divorce did not
justify the unfair gender discrimination, both
because it did not address the discrimination
against women while married, and the woman
and the man did not start on equal footing.
The confirmation by the Constitutional Court
reversed the default out of community of
property regime formed by the codified
customary law.
In Ramuhovhi and Others v President of the
Republic of South Africa and Others, the LRC
brought a claim on behalf of Ms Maphumulo
and the class of women she represented,
to the Constitutional Court, by applying for
a progression from the Gumede judgment
to extend the benefit of community of
property in favour of wives who were party to
customary polygamous marriages. In 2017,
the Constitutional Court declared section 7(1)
of the RCMA invalid with the Constitution
insofar as it applied to polygamous customary
marriages but suspended the declaration
of invalidity for 24 months, in which time
Parliament was given an opportunity to
correct the law.
The last of the trilogy cases was to contest
the discriminatory legacy of the Black
Administration Act, and in particular, the
ongoing effects of section 22(6), which
provided that black couples who concluded
civil marriages under the BAA were married,
by default, out of community of property.
Even after the repeal and replacement of the
BAA, its discriminatory effects still affected
Mrs Agnes Sithole and an estimated 400 000
other black women in 2018. The Marriage

and Matrimonial Property Amendment Act 3
of 1988 repealed and replaced the BAA but
did not adequately remedy nor reverse the
prejudice found in section 22 (6) of the BAA,
which had disastrous effects for women who
had no rights to access property following the
termination of their marriages.
Mrs Agnes Sithole brought an application
to the Durban High Court to have section
21(2)(a) of the Matrimonial Property Act
declared unconstitutional and invalid to the
extent that it maintained and perpetuated
the discrimination created by section 22(6)
of the BAA. Many women were oblivious to
the changes in the law, and their marriages
remained out of community of property. The
Divorce Act was also amended with sections
7(3) and 7(5) providing that a divorce court
“may deem it just” to order the redistribution
of assets between spouses married out of
community of property in terms of the BAA.
This meant that the only remedy available to
women married under section 22(6) of the
BAA was relying on a divorce court to secure
an equitable matrimonial property regime.
The legal trilogy was completed on 24 January
2020 when Judge Madondo of the Durban
High Court delivered a judgment in favour of
Mrs Sithole, which found that the marriage
regimes of black women married prior to
1988 will now be regarded as marriages in
community of property.
Poverty, economic instability, and eviction in
old age undermine the very value that our
Constitution is founded on. The relentlessness
of these women in challenging the
patriarchal status quo will unshackle future
generations from having to experience the
same discrimination.

Section 7(1) provided that customary
marriages entered into prior to the date of the
commencement of the Act (old marriages)
were governed by customary law, while
section 7(2) provided that customary
marriages entered into after the date of
commencement of the Act (new marriages)
were marriages in community of property.
Following the decision of the Durban High
Court, the LRC, on behalf of Mrs Gumede
applied to the Constitutional Court for
confirmation of constitutional invalidity.

Mrs Agnes Sithole with the LRC legal team, from left, Sharita Samuel, Advocate Geoff Budlender and RJ Purshotam
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During the course of the project, the LRC
mapped out a number of psychosocial service
providers, law enforcement institutions and
other legal service providers within the human
rights sphere in South Africa to partner with.
The resultant collaboration within the network
has contributed significantly to the realisation
of deliverables. While the organisations in the
network include some of the most important
role players within the project’s area of
interest, the process to map out as many of
these strategic network members as possible
to get the desired impact is ongoing.

LEGACY

LEGAL RESOURCES CENTRE

The Legal Resources Centre’s Legacy work, which encompassed equality and non-discrimination,
refugees, asylum seekers and migrant protection, openness and accountability, access to justice
and civil society support, is strategically winding down to focus on education and land. In the
2020/2021 period, we continued to work towards the conclusion of work in this area. In partnership
with the Omega Foundation and other collaborators, we finalised the work on the tools of torture,
the main objective of which project has been to ensure that survivors of torture receive redress
through reparations, the prosecution of offenders, and full rehabilitation. Other work included
engagement with artisanal miners and other stakeholders in processes to regulate and formalise
the industry to allow individuals on the ground to engage in legal artisanal mining and to minimise
the violence and precarity associated with the so-called ‘illegal’ mining.

The LRC regularly holds meetings with the
various stakeholders in the psychosocial
support network. Although this activity
envisages two meetings per year, it has
turned out that the nature of the project and
its objectives need continual and sustained
consultative meetings between stakeholders.
The LRC has had several meetings with
institutions such as the Centre for the Study
of Violence and Reconciliation (CSVR), the
Bench Marks Foundation, the Trauma Centre,
Cimwell, the South African Human Rights
Commission (SAHRC) and the South African
Police Service (SAPS) to discuss matters
pertaining to torture and other ill-treatment.
Providing psychosocial support
To ensure practical results and to maximise
benefits through these networks, the Legal
Resources Centre has established an effective
psychosocial support programme wherein
survivors of torture undergo counselling and
psychiatric evaluation. So far, there are seven
individuals undergoing counselling at the
CSVR and other institutions following their
torture and ill-treatment. The programme still
needs to be rolled out to other provinces.

Developing guidelines and information
materials
In partnership with members of the network,
the LRC produced a guideline document for
frontline personnel who work with victims of
torture. The aim of this document is to guide
professionals on the documentation of torture
and methodologies to interview victims.
It has been uploaded to the LRC’s “stop
torture” website, a platform for the reporting
of torture and the provision of resources for
combatting torture. Four hundred copies were
printed and have been distributed to courts,
NGOs and other institutions identified for
targeted information dissemination.
Additionally, a smaller handbook titled
“How to Report Torture”, has been produced
to guide community members on documenting
tools of torture and reporting torture. It is
also on the LRC’s dedicated anti-torture
website. A thousand copies of the handbook
were printed and distributed to legal
personnel, members of the communities
and community leaders, areas occupied by
vulnerable people, especially townships and
informal settlements.
The LRC also produced an infographic video
on torture and tools of torture in March 2021,
which is available from the “stop torture”
website available from www.lrc.org.za/stoptorture. The video voice-overs are in English but
will be translated to Portuguese and Indonesian.

6.1 International work on torture and the
tools of torture
The “Tools of Torture” - which ran from March 2018 and is due to conclude in September 2021,
partnered the Legal Resources Centre with the Omega Research Foundation, Justiça
Global (Brazil) and Kontras (Indonesia). The main objective of the project is to ensure that
survivors of torture receive redress through reparations, the prosecution of offenders, and as
full rehabilitation as possible. Rehabilitation in this context relates to psychosocial support and
psychiatric evaluation through the services of mental health professionals. Further, the partners
advocate for legislative and other reforms in the manufacture, trade and use of tools that play
a role in advancing torture. During the course of the project, the LRC was able to achieve the
following progress:
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Enhancing communication between
practitioners
Plans to host workshops to share experiences,
best practices, raise awareness and build
capacity on documenting the use/misuse of
torture technologies were obviously affected
by the Covid-19 pandemic: we were able to
host two in-person workshops in 2019, but
we were then forced to take our workshops
online. In October 2020, we organised a
webinar that was hosted by the Omega
Research Foundation and in November 2020 in collaboration with Cimwell Centre for Crisis
Management - we organised a three-day
training workshop on empathetic interviewing
of torture survivors. The workshop was
attended by mostly legal personnel and
psychosocial professionals from some of the
organisations within the network.
Strategic Litigation
The LRC has not had the capacity to litigate
the cases on torture, but with its everexpanding network, has managed to solicit
some legal practitioners to take the cases
on contingency. Some of the cases are old,
and practitioners decline to take them on the
basis that it is difficult to follow the chain of
events and evidence due to eroded evidence.
The LRC has also referred four of the cases
to IPID, in instances where victims consent
to such referrals. IPID has not finalised
investigations on a single one of these
cases since the first one was reported in
November 2019.

LEGAL RESOURCES CENTRE

Improving reporting
On aspects of reporting, to ensure effective
and anonymous reporting where fear of
reprisal might be a limiting factor for some
survivors, the website was set up and
launched in October 2020 to allow victims
of torture and other persons who wish to
report acts of torture to do so through the
website. On the page, documents relating to
the manufacture, trade and misuse of torture
equipment are also uploaded. Strategies to
create awareness about the website and the
LRC’s work on torture and torture technologies
must still be explored.

Going forward, on the measures for
prevention of torture, the South African
National Preventive Mechanism (NPM),
launched in July 2019, is currently made up of
the South African Human Rights Commission
(SAHRC), the Independent Police Investigative
Directorate (IPID), the Judicial Inspectorate
of Correctional Services (JICS) and the
Health Ombudsman. The LRC hopes that
with continued dialogue between itself and
the SAHRC, which oversees the NPM, civil
society organisations will serve as members
of the NPM subject to memorandums of
understanding being signed between these
organisations and the SAHRC. Should the LRC
succeed in its bid to become part of the NPM,
it will be advantageously positioned to have
legal authority to visit places of detention to
monitor such places for the presence of tools
that can be used to advance torture. Moreover,
in our engagements with communities and
legal professionals, it came across strongly
that there was a misunderstanding of the
concept of “tools of torture” or that these
were not adequately given attention, even by
human rights advocates, state authorities
and scholars. A publication on tools of torture
and how African states address this area
within their legislative frameworks could
potentially break new ground and usher an
understanding of the tools of torture into the
broader discourse of torture and ill-treatment
both in South Africa and on the continent.
With the project in its final stages, the LRC is in
the process of compiling a three-country report
on torture and rehabilitation technologies
which will be written in collaboration with
aforementioned project partners. While the
majority of the originally agreed-to deliverables
have been achieved within the specified
period, ensuring accountability and realisation
of impact may be a long-term process due
to a number of factors that include lack of
political will, inefficiency and corruption in the
justice sector. However, the LRC has mapped
out ways of ensuring that momentum is
sustained, and it is hoped that there will be
future collaborations between the Omega
Research Foundation and the LRC in order
to continue the fight against flagrant human
rights violations.

6.2 Formalising artisanal mining
in South Africa

Artisanal miner Zethu Hlatswayo

Since 2016, the Legal Resources Centre has engaged with artisanal miners in a process to regulate
and formalise the industry to allow individuals on the ground to engage in legal artisanal mining
and to minimise the violence and precarity associated with so-called ‘illegal’ mining.
The Mineral and Petroleum Resources Development Act 28 of 2002 (MPRDA) was enacted to
create equitable access to South Africa’s mineral wealth. However, the benefit to the people of
South Africa, as outlined by the Act, has not been palpable: the mining industry is still owned
by companies that existed before 1994, miners’ rights have not been realised due to lack of
enforcement, there have been instances of flagrant disregard for the environmental consequences
of mining activities, and critically, artisanal miners remain the most vulnerable, marginalised and
poor indigenous individuals in the mining industry.
Only parties that obtain a right or permit to mine in terms of the MPRDA can do so, however, this
process is complex and expensive. Artisanal miners, often people who worked in mines before
they were shut down by the mining houses as being non-profitable or desperately poor people
who live around abandoned mines, are unable to comply with the law due to non-accessibility
of finances or rights/permits and as such, become involved in illegal activity. In the case Maledu
and Others v Itereleng Bakgatla Mineral Resources (Pty) Ltd and Another, Judge Petse stated in his
judgement that “Strip someone of their source of livelihood, and you strip them of their dignity
too”. This directly applies to artisanal miners who are attempting to survive through mining.
The challenges faced by artisanal miners include mining regulations that they cannot meet, the
inherent inequalities in the mining industry and the fact that each entry into unused or abandoned
mines is an act of trespassing along with prevailing negative attitudes held by the public.
The benefits of bringing artisanal miners into the formal economy include:
• taxation and regulatory regimes since artisanal mining is believed to be able to play an important
role in rural economicdevelopment.
• decreased environmental impact given that artisanal miners can contribute and assist in
environmental management and restoration which is required of large scale mining.
• job creation, poverty alleviation and inequality reduction specifically, historically disadvantaged
South Africans could be able to participate and benefit from the mining industry as envisioned
in the MRPDA.
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In March 2019, the LRC held a round table,
which was attended by artisanal miners, civil
society, Department of Mineral Resources
and Energy officials, South African Police
Services and the mineral council. This was the
first round table of this nature, the purpose of
which was to provide a platform to promote
inclusive development in the mining sector
by advocating for ways of exploring how to
formalise the artisanal mining trade into the
economy, as an alternative to the formal, largescale mining which currently characterises
South Africa’s mineral sector. From this
round table, the group of artisanal miners
who attended decided to form the National
Association of Artisanal Miners (NAAM).
In November 2019, LRC staff attended two
meetings with the Department of Mineral
Resources and Energy’s Legislative Drafting
Division (LDD). These meetings were
requested by the LRC and were also attended
by NAAM and Mining Affected Communities
United Action (MACUA). The LLD carried
out research to develop legislation for
formalisation of artisanal mining. The purpose
of the meetings was to provide engagement
between the DMR and NAAM, to allow for
their voices to be heard.

During 2019, we joined a coalition with
the International Labour Research and
Information Group and the Bench Marks
Foundation to address issues of artisanal
mining in a forum where we could collectively
assist artisanal mining. Through this Artisanal
Mining Coalition, we met with the LDD in
September 2020 to attend prior consultations
on a draft policy for artisanal mining. During
these prior consultations, the LDD shared the
initial proposals, project plan, timelines and
initial views and submissions on the subject
matter of the draft artisanal and small-scale
mining policy.

6.3 Electoral Act ruling:
Door open for independent
candidates to stand for election

In addition to this work, we have continued
the engagement with NAAM and its members
through various forums. Most notably, we have
provided ad hoc assistance and advice. We
have also been engaged in other endeavours
designed to expand the discourse on artisanal
mining and solicit input from various actors
concerned with the formalisation of artisanal
mining, including presentations at webinars
and workshops and direct engagements with
artisanal miners.

LEGAL RESOURCES CENTRE

The Constitutional Court, in its ruling, has removed the idea that proportional representation means
only representation through political parties. The New Nation Movement, Ms Chantal Dawn Revell,
GRO and Indigenous First Nation Advocacy SA PBO brought an application before the Western
Cape High Court to have parts of the Electoral Act 73 of 1998 declared unconstitutional in so
far as they do not allow induvial candidates to stand for election to the national and provincial
legislatures. The provision under section 57A of the Act provides:
“schedule 1A applies in general to elections for the National Assembly and provincial legislatures
held under this Act, but without detracting from the generality of its application, in particular to (a) lists of candidates;
(b) the allocation of seats;
(c) the designation of candidates from lists as representatives in those seats; and
(d) the filling of vacancies
This must be read together with schedule 1A of the Act. This provision is considered in relation
primarily to section 19(3)(b) of the Constitution, which provides:

LRC attorney Lauren Nel

Mthakazisi Mtshali – Department of Mineral Resources

(3) Every adult citizen has the right (a) to vote in elections for any legislative body established in terms of the Constitution, and to do
so in secret; and
(b) to stand for public office and, if elected, to hold office.”
The High Court dismissed the application, relying on sections 1(d), 46(1)(a) and 105(a) of the
Constitution. The High Court essentially held that these provisions, read with section 19(3)(b)
hardly point to an electoral system that is inclusive of individual adult citizens contesting
elections but rather, read together, they speak to an electoral system framed by a proportional
party representation.
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The parties appealed the judgment at
the Constitutional Court. The applicants
collectively relied on section 19(3)(b) as
the empowering constitutional provision
that permits individual adult citizens to
contest elections to take office in provincial
and national legislatures. In opposition,
the Minister of Home Affairs, the Electoral
Commission and the Speaker of Parliament
centered their argument around the
provisions 1(d), 46(1)(a), 105(1)(a), 57(2),
178(1)(h) and 236 of the Constitution.
Their stance was that the provision the
applicants rely on is, at best, neutral and does
not make it mandatory for individual adult
citizens to contest elections. On the contrary,
the other provisions they rely on point away
from that “individualistic” interpretation.
The Council for the Advancement of the
South African Constitution (CASAC) and the
Organization Undoing Tax Abuse (OUTA)
were admitted as amicus curiae (friends
of the court) in the Constitutional Court
proceedings. The Legal Resources Centre
appeared for CASAC in the matter. In its
role to assist the court to reach the most
appropriate decision, and taking into account
all the relevant circumstances, CASAC raised
three key points for the court to consider.
Firstly, that it does not necessarily follow that
there would be greater accountability with
the election of individual citizens. Secondly,
parliament has a duty to facilitate debate
around an electoral system, including the
election of independent candidates. Finally,
there is no uniform consensus in international
and foreign law establishing an enforceable
right of individuals to stand for elections
other than in terms of political party lists.
CASAC has long advocated for a review of the
electoral system, and for parliament to take
into account the Van Zyl Commission report
and its findings to re-imagine an electoral
system that is constitutionally compliant and
enhances greater accountability. The High
Level panel which was chaired by former
president Kgalema Montlante had urged
Parliament to review the Act.

While the majority judgment is premised
on confirming the rights of individual adult
citizens to stand for election to provincial
and national legislatures as envisaged in
section 19(3)(b), it is useful to deal with
the substance of the judgments and the
interpretation of the law for a wholistic
understanding of the court’s approach in
dealing with constitutional provisions in a
patently complex matter. The judgment was
in three parts. The first judgment was penned
by Madlanga J (concurred by Cameron J,
Jafta J, Khampepe J, Mathopho AJ, Mhlantla
J, Theron J, Victor AJ). This judgment took
a direct approach in consideration of the
Electoral Act, finding that in so far as it does
not permit adult individual candidates to
stand for election but only through party
representation, is unconstitutional. This is
in consideration of section 19(3)(b) of the
Constitution. Additionally, to the argument
that a reading of section 19(3)(b) in a way that
affirms the right of individual adult citizens
to contest elections contradicts section 18,
freedom of association; the court found that
even when pitted against each other, no such
contradiction exists. Rather, the latter rights
must be interpreted widely and generously,
to incorporate the right of association not
to compel any individual to associate as the
scope of that right covers both those ends.
While there may be benefit it collective party
representation in the electoral process, it
must be taken into account others must have
a preference to an individualized approach to
participating in elections.
In giving meaning to section 1(d) of the
Constitution, the court explained that the
provision speaks to a multi-party system of
democratic governance as opposed to the
mandatory and exclusive party proportional
representation as the respondents contended.
Also, the judgment took the view that the
sections 46(1)(a) and 105(1)(a) of the
Constitution does not give an unlimited scope
of determining a national electoral system, as
opposed to what the Electoral Commission
sought to suggest, but categorically stated

that the electoral system must be in line with
the Constitution. The judgment conceded that
the position advanced by the respondents
from section 157(2)(a) of the Constitution
that makes it mandatory to conduct local
government elections for Municipal Councils
through proportional representation through
party lists and it therefore follows that a
national election electoral system shall
be always be through proportional party
representation as opposed to the individual
candidature of envisaged in section 19(3)
(b) is with merit. However, the court was not
entirely persuaded with this take. Essentially,
it took the view that the electoral system at
local government level is designed for the
unique circumstances at municipal level
which justify that approach. That is not to
say that this should be a blanket approach to
the entire electoral process. Therefore, there
is no contradiction between two provisions.
Finally, in consideration of section 36(1) of the
Constitution with respect to the Act in view of
the fact that the Act seems to limit the rights
of section 19(3)(b) and the court could not
find such a limitation justifiable.
The second judgment penned by Jafta J
(concurred in by Cameron J, Khampepe J,
Madlanga J, Mathopo AJ, Mhlantla J,
Theron J and Victor AJ) agreed with the
first judgment but took a purposive and
generous interpretation of section 19(3)(b).
Further, the interpretation and application of
section 19(3)(b) must be done in the context
of South Africa’s oppressive history which
denied suffrage to the black majority. It was
emphatic on voting secrecy. This judgment
also held that the reading of section 19(3)(b)
must be read with section 19(3)(a) in relation
to its conferring of rights to individually vote to

also refer to individually contesting electoral
processes as the differentiation only subverts
section 19(3)(b). Essentially, this judgment
also found that in so far as the Act makes
no provision for individual citizens to contest
elections, it is unconstitutional.
The third judgment, penned by Froneman J,
took a completely opposing view to the
outcome. While it agreed that leave to appeal
is to be granted, it did not consider that
section 19(3)(b) draws to the availability and
ability to contest an election as an individual
candidate but rather, how that right is to be
exercised in a framework of a constitutional
democracy. The third judgment takes it
further in its opposing view by stating that
it is not sufficient to satisfy oneself that as
there would be no constitutional impediments
to independent candidates to contesting
elections, therefore the interpretation of
section 19(3)(b) must be fall to securing the
right. It argues that this would be conflating
electoral systems and constitutional rights. It
is satisfied that individuality, voice and equally
can be sufficiently achieved through the party
representation system.
In determining an electoral system parliament
will need to take heed of section 46(1)
(d) of the Constitution which provides that
the electoral system “results, in general, in
proportional representation”. The application
of this provision must give meaning to section
19(3)(b) of the Constitution. As parliament
now reviews the Electoral Act it must ensure
that there is adequate public consultation
and participation so that citizens can make
their voices heard in determining the most
appropriate electoral system for South Africa.
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COVID-19
RESPONSE
The arrival of Covid-19 and the ensuing lockdown in South Africa required a robust response to
some of the human rights violations that soon presented themselves. To address these, the Legal
Resources Centre established a team whose mandate was to tackle any such violations. The job
losses experienced by many as a direct result of the pandemic, led to instances of homelessness
and people found themselves with no other option but to occupy land and erect homes to protect
themselves and their families from the pandemic. Our work in this area included ensuring that such
vulnerable people remained housed and that others were able to continue to receive an income.

LEGAL RESOURCES CENTRE

7.1 Grand Parade informal traders
The advent of the Covid-19 pandemic in South
Africa necessitated the shutdown of large
parts of the economy to curb the spread of
the virus and allow the government time to
build capacity in the healthcare sector, and
South Africa went into Level 5 lockdown on
26 March 2020. It was anticipated that these
lockdown restrictions would be gradually
eased, allowing for a staggered reopening
of parts of the economy, with regulations
guiding this, promulgated in advance by the
government before moving to a different
lockdown level.
On 29 April 2020, the Minister of Cooperative
Governance and Traditional Affairs (COGTA)
announced updated Disaster Management
Act regulations that would govern operations
and movement under lockdown level 4. The
regulations permitted the opening of informal
trade for merchants of non-perishable goods
such as textiles, clothing and other items.
With this understanding, informal traders

who operated from the Grand Parade in
Cape Town’s city centre approached the City
of Cape Town for permits to trade within
the constraints of level 4 of the lockdown
regulations. In response, the City informed
them that “flea markets” are not allowed to
operate during the lockdown and that they
should instead apply for the Social Relief
of Distress grant, which paid out R350 to
eligible recipients. They were therefore denied
access to the Grand Parade and excluded
from the designation of “essential services”
as per the regulations, which would allow them
unrestricted movement during lockdown level 4.
The prohibition imposed by the City
involved significant constitutional issues.
Historically, informal traders have been widely
discriminated against by not being legally
recognised as a legitimate form of trade that
crucially contributes to food security and
the economy, as evinced by the closure of
all forms of informal trading in Metropolitan

Municipalities during the hard lockdown
in 2020. However, section 221 of the
Constitution provides that every citizen has
the right to choose their trade freely and that
such trade must be regulated by law. It is thus
the duty of the state to protect, promote and
fulfil this right through legislative regulations
and policies.
The LRC was approached for legal assistance
and advice by the South African Informal
Traders Association (SAITA). SAITA defends
and represents the interests of informal
traders in all nine provinces in South Africa.
In the City of Cape Town, SAITA represents
the interests of informal traders trading at the
Grand Parade Square who fall under the Grand
Parade United Traders Association and four
other traders’ associations. All these informal
traders’ associations had entered into lease
agreements to operate from the Grand
Parade Square with the City of Cape Town
since 1995. The lease agreement had never
been amended or withdrawn, thus it was still
operational, and its terms were applicable.
Despite regulations permitting their operation,
the traders were further informed by the City
that only traders with a trader’s license would
be allowed to operate and as such, only
holders of these licenses were eligible for the
“Covid Traders Permit”. Our clients had never
possessed trading licenses, nor were they
required to have these prior to the national
lockdown; they operated from the Grand
Parade on the basis of their long-standing
lease agreement. As a result of this new
requirement from the City, they were denied
their right to trade.
Our legal team, working under the mandate
of the LRC Covid-19 Task Team, challenged
the decision taken by the City and argued
that the applicable law requirements were
not adhered to by the City and that denial
of informal trading impacts the livelihoods
of the Grand Parade traders. Our clients are
primarily the breadwinners of their families.
The City unjustifiably shut down the voices
and rights of informal traders and continued
to discriminate against this form of trading
even though our clients sold the exact
same products sold by commercial retail
stores. There appeared no motive for this
discriminatory treatment of our clients, except
for their social and class status and the fact
that their trading stores were not conventional
stores. Like everyone else affected by the
closure of businesses due to the lockdown,
our clients had to contend with mortgages
that were in arrears, school fee payments

that were behind and the loss of income that
made it difficult for them to secure a meal for
their families.
The regulations promulgated by the COGTA
minister permitted our clients to trade.
Further, our clients were prepared to adhere
to the social distancing and Covid-19 hygiene
measures required of them and were equipped
with the necessary tools and equipment to
operate in this unfamiliar terrain. The position
of the City on this was therefore inconsistent
with the applicable legislative framework.
The matter was settled through a hardwon order by agreement on the basis that
the operation of informal trading business
by members affiliated with the applicant
associations on the Grand Parade did not
constitute a flea market in terms of regulation
24(2)(b) of the regulations promulgated
in terms of section 27(2) of the Disaster
Management Act 57 of 2002, as published on
29 April 2020. Following the endorsement of
this agreement by both parties on 29 May 2020
– a month after our clients were legally allowed
to trade as per lockdown level 4 regulations –
our clients arrived at the Grand Parade on 1
June to set up their stalls. Upon arrival, they
were denied access to the area, with the City
later communicating to us additional terms
that were not part of our agreement. These
included imposing restrictions on the number
of traders, changing locations of where the
traders would normally trade and the times
at which they could trade. We immediately
contested these, with the City finally ceding
to our demands two days later, allowing our
clients to trade. To date, our clients continue
to trade from the Grand Parade while adhering
to the social distancing measures as well as
ensuring their stalls were sterilised, as per
Covid-19 protocols.
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Bulelani Qolani and other eThembeni residents and supporters outside his home
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7.2 Protecting the right to a home during a
deadly, global pandemic
When Bulelani Qolani was dragged naked from his home in July 2020, prior to it being demolished,
the full horror of homelessness in Cape Town, and its associated precarity, was displayed to
anyone who watched the viral video. Mr Qolani’s eviction, in the midst of a health pandemic raging
around the world, one that required people to stay home to mitigate the spread of contagion,
highlighted the callousness of the City’s eviction processes and emphasised the crucial need for
judicial oversight in any eviction. The advent of the Covid-19 pandemic placed great responsibility
on governments to take measures to prevent the spread of the virus. To this end, the Minister of
Justice and Constitutional Development, Ronald Lamola, declared a moratorium on eviction for
the duration of the national state of disaster. Despite this position being explicitly stated in the
disaster management regulations, evictions continued to take place. The eviction of Mr Qolani
was one of many evictions that had taken place in informal settlements - some of which had been
erected as a direct result of the lockdown – across the City of Cape Town. For years, evictions and/
or demolitions in Cape Town have taken place without the requisite court order as mandated by the
Prevention of Illegal Eviction from and Unlawful Occupation of Land Act (PIE Act). Instead, through
its “Anti-Land Invasion Unit” (ALIU), the City relies solely on the common law principle of “counterspoliation” to demolish informal structures and evict occupiers from their homes, thus skirting the
law. According to the City, their actions in counter-spoliating do not require authorisation from the
court since they are merely ‘taking back’ what was theirs.

The City’s insistence on demolishing
structures without judicial oversight and
rendering people homeless as a result may
have fatal results while this deadly pandemic
continues to spread. The former UN Special
Rapporteur on Housing, Dr Leilani Farha, has in
this regard said, “At the most extreme, people
experiencing homelessness must choose
between sleeping rough or in shelters where
physical distancing and adequate personal
hygiene are almost impossible. Homeless
populations and people living in inadequate
housing often already suffer from chronic
diseases and underlying conditions that
make Covid-19 even more deadly. It is now
clear that housing is both prevention and cure
- and a matter of life and death - in the face
of Covid-19. Governments must take steps to
protect people who are the most vulnerable to
the pandemic by providing adequate shelter
where it is lacking and ensuring the housed
do not become homeless because of the
economic consequences of the pandemic.
These crucial measures include stopping
all evictions, postponing eviction court
proceedings, prohibiting utility shut-offs
and ensuring renters and mortgage payers
do not accrue insurmountable debt during
lockdowns”. The Legal Resources Centre acts
for three applicants in this case: the South
African Human Rights Commission (SAHRC),
the Housing Assembly and Mr Qolani. The
SAHRC provided technical and expert evidence
on human rights abuses. The Housing
Assembly represents various communitybased organisations that advocate for the
right to housing and prevention of evictions.
They presented personal narratives and
evidence of the struggles of the poor and
landless people. The Bulelani Qolani case
study presents persuasive facts that highlight
the realities of the City’s conduct.
Part A of proceedings sought an urgent
interdict against the City of Cape Town, the
ALIU, and any private contractors appointed
by the City to carry out similar work or to
perform the same or similar functions as
the ALIU, from evicting persons from, and
demolishing, any informal dwelling, whether
occupied or unoccupied,throughout the Cape

Metropole, while the state of disaster declared
in terms of the Disaster Management Act
57 of 2002, as amended, remains in place,
without a court order. In addition, any eviction
must be exercised in a manner that is lawful
and respects and upholds the dignity of the
evictees. An interdict was granted by the
Western Cape High Court on 25 August 2020.
Effectively, no evictions and demolitions can
take place without an order of court being
granted. This interdict is currently the subject
of an appeal before the Supreme Court of
Appeal. We await the allocation of a date for
the hearing before the court.
Part B of the proceedings sought a more
systemic relief; a declaratory order that
ensures court oversight in evictions of
occupied and unoccupied informal dwellings,
that any evictions and/or demolitions carried
out by the City to date - without a valid and
lawful court order, along with the decision
to mandate the ALIU to demolish structures
they deem to be unoccupied - is declared
unlawful and invalid, and inconsistent with
the Constitution. Most importantly, we sought
a declaratory order that the common law
principle of counter-spoliation, insofar as it
permits or authorises the eviction of persons
from, and the demolition of, any informal
dwelling, or any other form of temporary
or permanent dwelling or shelter, whether
occupied or unoccupied at the time of such
eviction or demolition, is inconsistent with the
Constitution, and therefore invalid.
The hearing commenced before the Western
Cape High Court from 24 to 27 November
2020. Following an almost week-long hearing
that included an application by Afriforum for
inclusion into the proceedings as amicus
curiae, which the court dismissed, Judges Allie
and Meer, who presided over the matter, could
not agree on an outcome. It then followed
that the matter must be heard de novo before
a full bench. The matter was heard afresh on
25 and 26 March 2021. Due to time
constraints, however, the hearing could not
be finalised and is due to resume from 11 to
14 October 2021.
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08

WE REMEMBER
8.1 Sharing Salads, Stories
and Struggle: Remembering
George Bizos
There have been many powerful tributes to
George Bizos that celebrate him as a public
figure playing a major role in South Africa’s
history. These are all true and fitting. In the
quieter space of the Legal Resources Centre,
however, we had the opportunity to spend
time with the George behind the public figure.
That George Bizos shared some of his worries
and vulnerabilities and supported us through
our own, always very gently.

LEGAL RESOURCES CENTRE

George joined the LRC in 1991. He surrendered
to the unrelenting persuasion of Arthur
Chaskalson, his lifelong friend, to take up the
senior counsel role that George continued
to hold until shortly before his death. I met
George when I joined the LRC in 2008 as a
junior attorney in the Constitutional Litigation
Unit (CLU). The CLU was very small then,
with George and Adrian Friedman. Achmed
Mayet was split between the Johannesburg
office and the CLU, and Bongumusa Sibiya,
a candidate attorney, were the only other
lawyers. In many ways, George was the CLU.
We were still in Bram Fischer House, the
Gandhi square building then, on the 8th floor.
Often the lifts would break down, but George
would climb all the stairs to work every day,
slowly, determinedly, taking breaks along the way.
George would often take junior lawyers,
especially the advocates, to lunch. Over
the years, having George as a neighbour
and lunch companion remained a constant
while other things changed around us in the
LRC, including the move to the Bram Fischer
Towers in Albert Street. When George took me
and other junior lawyers out to lunch, he would
insist on paying, saying that we could pay ‘on
pay day’. After Adrian left, the other regulars at
lunch would be Tembeka Ngcukaitobi and, at
least once a week after his retirement as Chief
Justice, Arthur Chaskalson. It was wonderful
to witness the loving friendship that Arthur

and George shared. It filled me with hope. As
lawyers, they were such different characters
but the best of friends. Together, they
personified the central tenets of the LRC’s
work: Arthur’s incisive mind seeking out the
most strategic test cases with the potential
for far-reaching impact; and George’s
empathy leaving him unable to turn anyone
seeking legal assistance away. George would
often identify an everyday injustice that had
been brought to him and implore that the LRC
do something about it - regardless of focus
areas, strategic plans or budgets - because: ‘if
we didn’t help, who would?’
In Bram Fischer Towers, George would eat
lunch in the office kitchen, with several
colleagues coming and going, joining to eat or
have a cup of tea and slipping in and out of
the conversation. There were many regulars
at lunch in the kitchen, such as Lunga Siyo,
Sayi Nindi, Janet Love, Emma Webber, Claire
Martens, Esme Wardle, Delysia Weah, Carina
du Toit, Tembeka Ngcukaitobi, and so many
more, including whoever happened to be
visiting from offices outside Johannesburg.
George always brought a lunchbox, usually with
sandwiches and salad. He would insist
on sharing, especially the salad leaves from his
own garden. Lunch was shared in every sense:
a communal meal, conversation and space.
The office kitchen, up on the 16th floor, had
big windows that looked out to the north over
the Johannesburg CBD. Sometimes we would
watch protests unfolding in the streets below,
strains of the singing reaching us up high.
From the kitchen window, we could look out
towards the Johannesburg High Court, where
so many of George’s famous courtroom
battles took place and where he had a term
as an acting judge during my time at the LRC.
I was part of the team that appeared before
him in that case, Tsebe, where he sat as part

of a full bench. The LRC acted for the Society
for the Abolition of the Death Penalty – itself
chaired by LRC attorney William Kerfoot.
The matter concerned whether South Africa
could send a citizen of Botswana back to
that country to face capital charges. George,
who stood firm against the death penalty
throughout his life, did so again along with his
fellow judges - to the strong approval later of
the Constitutional Court.
This was one rare encounter with George
as a judge, but of course, he was always an
advocate at his core. He was the consummate
trial lawyer, with a strong and intuitive grasp
of rules of evidence and a master of crossexamination. George would practise his
cross-examination on his plants, pursuing
one line of questions to its logical conclusion
and then, imagining a different answer early
on, following a different branch of potential
questions and answers. His plants made
better witnesses than the apartheid security
police, he insisted. George was a very tactile,
communal and verbal lawyer - he liked to be in
the room with his team, holding copies of the
relevant pleading or law report in his hands
and testing his argument on colleagues.
During the latter part of my time at the LRC,
George appeared less often in cases, and
more of his time was spent giving public
speeches. Many of us were recruited to help
with research or to test ideas, and I know that
many former LRC lawyers, researchers and
interns will have fond memories of assisting
George with research for an important
speech. In this process, he imbued many
of us with his core principles, such as a
commitment to constitutionalism and human
rights, his deep anti-racism and a spirit of
internationalism (and specifically Hellenism).
Most of his speeches included stories and
lessons learnt from encounters in the struggle
during apartheid. George was determined that
people should not forget, nor take for granted,
the sacrifices made to secure freedom. A
constant refrain in his speeches was that we
should ‘not blame the Constitution’ but harness
it to fight for the society that it envisages.
I did get to brief George, though, in one
of the cases that was most important to
me - the Central Methodist Church matter.
George appeared in the High Court to resist
an application by local businesses to stop
the Church sheltering thousands of mainly
Zimbabwean refugees. We managed to
resolve the matter. In the hearing on the
matter, George began his submissions by

reminding the High Court that he, too, had
been a refugee. This was central to his identity
and made him identify with others who came
to South Africa seeking to build a new life.
A few years later, George took on his last
major case, representing the family of the
late John Ledingoane at the Marikana
Commission, as the leader of the LRC team.
At the very first sitting of the Commission in
Rustenburg, as the nation reacted in shock
to the events and an excessive circus of
lawyers placed themselves on record for
different clients, George held aloft a pocketsized Constitution and proclaimed that he
acted for both the Ledingoane family and
the Constitution itself. Only George could
make such a claim with credibility. He fought
the Marikana Commission with relentless
tenacity, saying that here - unlike the
discredited commissions appointed to paper
over apartheid atrocities - there was a real
chance to hold the police accountable for the
killings and injuries. He put all of himself into
the Marikana Commission and it took a lot
out of him, physically and emotionally. Miriam
Wheeldon was his pillar of support through
the Commission days, with others such as
Bongumusa Sibiya and Michael Power also
giving crucial support. As his junior counsel,
Tembeka Ngcukaitobi, Michael Bishop and I
joined the proceedings at specific points to
argue a point or cross-examine a witness, but
George was there day after day, witness after
witness, through it all. Even when it took a toll on
his health, he persisted. That was who he was.
The memories I will most hold onto will not
be the public events or court appearances or
sitting in the Marikana Commission, though
those were special, but the walks through
Johannesburg CBD to lunch, the lunches at
Cafe Boccaccio and in the Johannesburg LRC
office kitchen and driving George home or to
Marikana or some other place. Those gentler
moments will always stay with me. In fact, it
was at these garden-variety, routine lunches
that George shared with us his experiences
of struggle, wonderful stories from all the
parts of his life, personal and professional,
and shared his home-grown salad. It was
there that we learnt that the great source of
George’s formidable strengths as a struggle
lawyer and advocate lay in his shared sense
of humanity, empathy, and kindness.
Jason Brickhill is an advocate at the
Johannesburg Bar, a doctoral student and tutor
at the University of Oxford, as well as a former
colleague of George Bizos while at the LRC.
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8.2 George through my lens
As the person at the Legal Resources Centre often behind the camera lens, I took every opportunity
to capture George in my focus. I must have taken hundreds of photos of him during my time at
the organisation. He was always a little shy of being photographed, refusing to smile unless I told
him to. People would sidle up next to him, always wanting to get a quick selfie or be in the photo
with him, pretending to know him. He was infinitely patient about that, but he did save his most
intimate look for those he worked closely with or whom he admired deeply. My favourite photo of
him still remains the one I took of him and Zimbabwean human rights lawyer Beatrice Mtetwa - a
technically flawed photo but bursting with feeling.

LEGAL RESOURCES CENTRE

One day, my mentor and friend, Yunus Chamda, a photographer himself, called me into the library
and told me to take photos of George while he distracted him by asking him about his time
with the late president Nelson Mandela - George’s favourite topic. Of course, I knew most of the
stories by then but wanted to listen to more, except I was so focused on this special opportunity
to photograph George with all his different expressions that I could not pay attention. His mind
was continually drifting, always sitting somewhere in the past. I suspect that George’s short-term
memory was not quite up to his usual standards by then, but his recall was so sharp that he could
name places, dates and exact details from 30 years earlier.

It was these types of stories that got rapt
attention from every new person at the LRC.
Every intern, visitor or passing lawyer would
find George at the lunch table or in his office
reading the paper. I would warn them that
George could keep talking for as long as you
let him, and we would often find this person
still sitting in front of George two hours later.
He was a grandfather figure in our office,
always with a story or wanting to share his
lunch with you. Whenever I visited his office,
he would tell me something about the news
of that day, turning to look at me with outrage
in his voice and deep crevasses of worry lines
across his face. He still had the stamina to
be angry about abuses of people or inept
and corrupt government, even when he was
already in his early ‘90s.

house, having taken nothing. Such was the
respect that George invoked. For me, it was a
lesson on leadership (or maybe good karma)
- that if you live by the right thing, even those
disenfranchised and vulnerable will not steal
from you. But it is up to you to build the nation.
On his 90th birthday, he told me that he was
phoned by his friend, Sir Sydney Kentridge,
who was 95 at the time. Sir Kentridge
told George that if he can live to ninety, he
can make it to 95. I think, on some level, I
internalised that idea, and so the death of
George on 9 September 2020 at the age of
92 was completely unexpected for me. “My
heart!” I said to my friend who was the first to
bear the news. I guess that is all I can say. He
touched my heart, and I am honoured to have
known him.

I should explain why I call him “George” and
not Advocate George Bizos or any other
formal title to which he may be known. For
one, I spent seven years with him and so
he was my colleague above all else. And
secondly, George did not stand by ceremony.
I guess, due to his stature in South Africa, he
was able to bypass the need to conform to
titles, but I also think he never lost his sense
of the bigger picture. His task in the world was
not to be seen but to serve. Everything he did
had a greater purpose. He was most proud
of those around him. He wanted greatness.
He demanded justice. And at the end of the
day, he was an ordinary man who, too, had
endured great suffering.

This week of his passing, my social media
timeline is filled with photos that I took. My
former colleagues and I comment on each
other’s posts, reminiscing, laughing and
holding space for each other. He brought us
back together. All the photos I see make me
proud. I am glad to have been able to capture
George in his undisguised moments, saying
hello to the former director of the LRC, Janet
Love, or looking overwhelmed by a happy
birthday song, talking to a young person, or
reciting for the hundredth time stories of his
best friend, Nelson Mandela. A person who
lived a long, rich and fulfilling life, who loved
the LRC completely and who was proud of us.

The one story that George told me, which is
always the first I remember when I think of
him, was about the time his house was burgled
when he was not there. The burglars had gone
as far as to tie up the domestic worker and
her son before they came across photos of
George and Mandela. They promptly left the

I told a friend that I suspect that George never
learnt my name. My friend asked, “Well, how
did he greet you.” And I told him, “With a smile.”
Claire Martens is the senior communications
officer at Natural Justice. She was the
communications officer at the LRC from 2012
to 2018.

With the backdrop of the late Bram Fischer’s law books, I took photo after photo of George: pensive,
happy and sad, or deep in thought. Of all those photos, I kept the one of George where he is looking
into the distance, his eyes a little watery, because it reminds me of George’s well of compassion.
He was one of the most principled people I have ever met, always looking for some other way to
help someone. He breathed justice just by being alive. He shared himself with everyone he met. He
was a giant who remained deeply human.
George loved to meet a fellow lawyer. I think his belief in the law as an avenue for social change
was unwavering. Certainly, being part of the team that drafted the Constitution, working for
the LRC and having a good friend in the late Arthur Chaskalson could make you feel like this.
Every few weeks, a new judgment would come out that was victorious for human rights. The
Constitution was always the winner. And so, George felt its presence every day. He loved
telling the story of the person he once knew that carried a copy of the Constitution in his
pocket and would wave it in front of government officials whenever they refused him something.
“I know my rights” was probably the affirmation that George would have liked everyone to adopt.

George with Claire Martens
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George with
former President
Kgalema Motlanthe

George with Thandi Orleyn

George with Rivonia trialist Ahmed Kathrada

George with Advocate Phumzile Mdakane

George and Thandi Orleyn.

Advocate
George Bizos
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George with
Beatrice Mtetwa

George with Advocate Lunga Siyo, Lufuno Mamburu,
Christine Malata and Anelisa Mkatshane
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Valencia Morrison with Rufus Poswa

8.3 “When she laughed, you laughed”

LEGAL RESOURCES CENTRE

What people miss the most about Valencia
Morrison is her raucous laughter that lilted
through the Legal Resources Centre’s
Makhanda office, reverberating against
decades-old walls as it moved from the front
office where she sat daily to the expansive
corridors, passing along the doors to offices
of colleagues and the boardroom. Each of
Makhanda’s five employees would often look
up briefly as her laughter floated by like a cool
breeze, taking it in for a moment. Sometimes
they would laugh too or smile to themselves
before going back to whatever they had been
busy with. It was a kind of laughter that made
you laugh when you heard it, the carefree
laughter of someone who understood that life
will happen and chose to laugh because the
alternative, would be pointless. Her laughter
was effervescent - much like Valencia herself.
The Makhanda office is stiller now because,
on January 15th 2021, Valencia Morrison
passed away from Covid-19 complications.
She had been on oxygen for 10 days at
Makhanda’s Settlers Hospital. Valencia had
lived in Makhanda all her life; she was born
there, attended St. Mary’s RC Primary School,
then later Mary Waters High School. She
completed a Diploma in Office Administration
from East Cape Midlands College. In
Makhanda, she had carved out a life built
around her family, childhood friends, church

and community. She was a “caretaker”, who
looked after everyone’s needs whether at the
office, in church or in the community. It made
sense therefore, that at the beginning of the
level 5 lockdown, Valencia arranged for food
parcels, donated by one of the local churches,
to be provided to less fortunate members of
the community who struggled from the loss
of income when the economy was effectively
shut down. The church, at first, refused to
participate in this effort since the parcel
recipients were not part of its congregation this was unacceptable for Valencia. Instead,
she personally collected the food parcels
from the church and drove around the town
delivering them to each of those in need.
Valencia began her work at the LRC in 2011 as
a legal secretary in the Makhanda office. She
joined the Makhanda office at around the same
time as Amanda Moli, the office assistant.
The two quickly became close friends in and
outside the office. Valencia quickly made
herself indispensable, and became an integral
member of the team who provided guidance
to new attorneys; she was relied on by senior
attorneys to ensure compliance with various
court rules when documents were due for
filing. Clients held her in high regard too; more
especially, some sought the assistance of the
LRC simply because they knew Valencia from
church or around the community.

Valencia loved her job and understood the
crucial role she played in the office as the first
person clients and other people interfaced
with or as someone who provided everyday
continuity in the office, but she had bigger
aspirations. She had a keen interest in IT
matters, and always wanted to know more
about this subject. She also loved growing
professionally, seeking development in
many areas and acquiring certifications
and qualifications in these. Valencia was an
ardent believer in the power of education to
change lives and proved to be a role model for
her daughters in this regard. She was a proud
mother to Caitlin and Pinkie, and would eagerly
share and celebrate their achievements and
educational milestones with others. She loved
them fiercely and wanted to see them grow
up and be successful in life. The product of a
close-knit family, she allowed the love she had
been imbued with by her mother Pam, and
her father, Winston, lead her in life. She was
kind and patient. She loved people and their
stories, and this often translated into various
people in the town speaking to her about the
problems they had which, they believed could
be resolved with assistance the assistance
of LRC. Valencia would then arrange for any
such person to speak to one of the attorneys.
None of the attorneys ever said no when she
asked them to see to the many people who
sought assistance through her.
Amanda says they worked well together, and
formed a relationship that reached far beyond
that of work fellows. She says Valencia was
also greatly emotional, and expressed her
feelings of frustration or happiness this way.
She was always eager to help and would
often make time to offer assistance where
she could. She was also especially close to
her sister and mother, and of course, her two
daughters. Every month, she took her girls
or her family on trips to Gqeberha in order
to break the monotony of small-town life in
Makhanda and to spend time at the beach.
She was also an incredible baker whose
baking indicated seasons of the year: scones
in the winter and peppermint tart in the
summer. Valencia loved a good braai, though
she was not a big meat eater as she limited
her meat intake to chicken only. Equally on
any occasion that involved food, loved ones
and merriment, Valencia was sure to cater to
the needs and the preferences of all present,
this was a testament to her kind, generous
nature. Nothing was “too small” for her, and
she approached life with a mind to make it
as incredible an experience as she could for
herself and others. This is embodied in the way
she turned what would have been a drab endof-the-year office function into a well-dressed

occasion kitted out with sophisticated
crockery, cutlery and décor - all from her
home. It was the end of the professional year
in 2020, a year of uncertainty with almost all
semblance of normalcy thrown into flux by the
pandemic, and Valencia did not want the yearend party to be marred by the anxiety that had
come to characterise life under the pandemic.
It was the first time the office would have the
opportunity to catch their breath, together, to
connect and reflect, not just as colleagues but
as friends. Valencia’s drawing together of all
colleagues allowed the office to make sense
of a thoroughly unprecedented year, which
already took so much from people across
the world, and was which left our collective
futures uncertain. Sadly, this was also the last
time the Makhanda office, as they knew it,
would be together with Valencia.
It is difficult to find a picture of Valencia in
which she is not in the company of others,
or she is not smiling. The only outlier is the
selfie she submitted for inclusion in the
2020 Women’s Day campaign. In this sense,
Valencia was truly a people’s person, as
attested to by those who knew and worked
closely with her in all her years at the LRC.
There is almost a reverence when they speak
about her - as if she was otherworldly - and the
refrain is almost always the same: “she was
kind, she was loving, and she was committed”.
The difficulty they have in talking about her, of
their memories of her or of the times spent
together, is therefore understandable. Even
with the grief left by her passing, the indelible
imprint Valencia made on those close to her
and those fortunate enough to work with
her, is undeniable. Valencia was a daughter,
a sister, a mother and a friend. She was
also more than these to many people and
was simply a great human being who had a
hopeful vision of the future. We will miss her.

Valencia Morrison
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Partner spotlight:

The Poor
Flat Dwellers
Movement
The Poor Flat Dwellers Movement (PFDM) was formed by Dr. Desmond De Sa and Maureen
Rambhadursing in 2009 to aid many poor, indigent and marginalised low-cost housing tenants
and owners who faced litigation and mass evictions around the country, including recipients of
social grants who had been displaced and had no alternative accommodation for themselves and
their families.

LEGAL RESOURCES CENTRE

The organisation realised that the Sectional Title Act of 1986 gave leeway for litigation against
vulnerable homeowners. Many of these homeowners did not understand what the title deed that
they were forced to obtain from the state was since they inherited sectional title flats as they had
been on the waiting list for many years. As such, they were faced with litigation that they did not
understand and were not aware that they had to defend the pending legal action brought against
them. This made it difficult for families to remain as owners or as tenants.
Many were left without homes, water, sanitation, electricity and they were without their dignity
making them ‘refugees’ to the state. These communities suffered human rights injustices during
these years, and every effort to restore their right to housing is what PFDM embarked on in the
interests of ensuring the prevention of evictions.

Maureen Rambhadursing (front - left) and some of the PFDM team

Maureen Rambhadursing is the Director of the
PFDM, a registered non-profit organisation.
She is responsible for providing assistance to,
and ensuring that, poor communities are not
prejudiced in anyway whatsoever in instances
where litigation is served against their homes.
Rambhadursing builds defensive cases and
identifies any injustices against the vulnerable,
securing legal representation from public
interest law firms to bring legal intervention so
that the constituents she serves can remain
housed with their families. Her work involves
analysing colonial laws that do not speak to
the Constitution and disadvantage the poorest
of the poor, which must therefore be repealed.
Her focus also includes challenging instances
where court rulings entrench injustices,
unfairness, impair dignity, disadvantages
society, or limits basic human rights. She
engages with law firms that agree to defend
the affected victims who stand to lose their
homes wrongfully and unlawfully. In this, she
is assisted by organisations such as the Legal
Resources Centre, Legal Aid, Pro Bono and
any other public interest law organisation that
is empathetic to the struggles of poor and
vulnerable people.

The PFDM also assists communities affected
by environmental injustices, or those that live
in areas affected by pollution and those who
are wrongfully or unlawfully denied social
benefits/grants.
They also arrange educational programmes
provided by non-profit organisations and
regulators willing to engage in meaningful
partnerships in the interest of marginalised
and displaced communities. The educational
programs are well-attended by communities
as these allow them the agency to
take responsibility and manage their
accommodation, homes, rentals, electricity,
water and other essential needs, in a better
way. They also learn about the legal framework
and where they can go for assistance where
necessary. The PFDM also engages with
national government through the Department
of Human Settlements, working closely to
bring about resolutions and solutions that
benefit people who are unable to pay for
services, housing and basic necessities.
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The highlights of the organisation’s work have included:

Winning a pensioner’s case against SASSA. He was denied his pension for 10 years. He
had a household of 19 family members and was faced with eviction with nowhere to go.
Rambhadursing engaged with a compassionate lawyer, Clifford Athman, who defended
them and also identified wrongful and unlawful injustices that prejudiced the family.
Today they receive social grants and can live more affordably and travel for medical
treatments while the children and youth are receiving their education.

An eight-year-old girl applied to a government school and was advised that her
application was unsuccessful. PFDM took on the school and she’s since been accepted
at the school.

Rambhadursing was taken to court in her personal capacity, by an administrator. She
was assisted pro bono by Advocate Nelphura Cassim SC, who resides in Pretoria. While
she did not win the case at the high court, the judgement was sent to Professor Graham
Paddock at UCT, lead legal consultant on Sectional Titles and Community Schemes
legislation, for an opinion. This offered her a new opportunity to win – which she did.

Rambhadursing worked with a body corporate that was under administration and
reconvened the body corporate. The administrator was removed and by the power of
the body corporate, lost his position and could not apply to the court to be reinstated.
This is possibly the first body corporate to oust an administrator without engaging in a
legal process.
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Secured a successful judgement in favour of three pensioners who owned their freehold
homes in Bonela, Durban.

Secured 33 successful adjudication orders in favour of female pensioners in a Sydenham
old age home rental dispute.

The PFDM has worked closely with the LRC, which they regard as key to their existence. The LRC
provides legal assistance to their constituents, along with research and education that supports
and empowers them. The LRC also has the legal capacity to restore the dignity of the poorest of
the poor and provide proficient legal assistance that ensures the protection of the human rights
of all people.
“The profound legal knowledge and expertise offered by the LRC, along with the open-door
policy, enable communities free access to the organisation where they are treated with respect
despite their educational limitations. The LRC’s legal education programmes are accessible to
all members of our community. They provide a good understanding of the laws that govern the
country, and how people such as those served by the PFDM are more aware of how best they
can be protected. The content used in such programmes is simple, with pictures to assist those
who are illiterate. The programs are also well explained by the facilitators, making community
members feel empowered,” says Rambhadursing, adding that “With the LRC, our people know that
they are in the best legal hands to defend them.”
Since the PFDM engaged in a meaningful
and fruitful partnership with the LRC, the
organisation has gained recognition across
the spectrum and has increased the fight for
justice with great strength and understanding
of human rights law. The staff understand
the “street justice” practices and they
incorporate the level of understanding of
these cases that we report to them. LRC
attorneys unpack information and provide an
interpret a legal opinion so that it is clear and
understandable to PFDM’s constituents who
all have varying levels of formal education.
Rambhadursing says the PFDM constantly
learns from the LRC, which has enriched their
approach to social justice work. “They are
powerful lawyers that are compassionate and
empathic and apply their minds so that we
can grow in size as they restore the dignity of
our citizens by representing them with brilliant
legal arguments”, she says.
“We rely on their expertise as an organisation
and value their support to secure favourable
judgements. As a successful NPO we have
earned the respect, trust and have recognition
by many institutions and we are stronger
because of the LRC. The LRC is one of SA
legal powerhouses and because of this we
can serve our people well especially their
human rights knowledge and understanding
of the Constitutional laws. Their commitment
is appreciated, and we have great respect for
our legal experts”, she adds.

The LRC is South Africa’s most
outstanding legal organisations,
and they are a powerful partnership
in bringing legal services to the
underprivileged. The lawyers are
understanding and accommodating.
Marginalised people of South Africa
are given a platform for the realisation
of their constitutional rights and the
LRC adds a powerful voice for people
who suffer due to inequality. They
are very consistent in their work, are
“Constitution-minded”, and do their
best to give a sound legal opinion.
The organisation is easily accessible
to us and people like us, and we
rely on the legal education that they
provide. They are a very necessary
institution in South Africa given their
invaluable legal contribution that
serves to protect the most vulnerable
in our society.
-Maureen Rambhadursing
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Working in
partnership
The Legal Resources Centre, as an independent organisation working towards a fully democratic
society, understands and values the importance of working with groups that align with its core
mandate and ideals. The LRC would like to take this opportunity to look back at some of the
partnerships we relied on during the year in review, all in the name of advancing human rights in
contemporary South Africa. The LRC believes that a collaborative approach to social justice leads
to better outcomes for marginalised people living in this country. Through a number of valuable
collaborations, the LRC is a leading partner in driving the fight for social justice for all. This is our
way of paying homage to our partners.

LEGAL RESOURCES CENTRE

Association for Rural Advancement
AFRA is a land rights advocacy nongovernmental organisation (NGO) working
to support marginalised black rural people,
with a focus on farm dwellers. We are
working towards an inclusive, gender
equitable society where rights are valued,
realised and protected, essential services are
delivered, and land tenure is secure. We work
intensively with communities in and around
the uMgungundlovu District Municipality in
KwaZulu-Natal, South Africa, and extensively
in offering support and advice.
Built Environment Support Group
BESG was established in 1983 by senior staff
of the then University of Natal Department
of Architecture and Allied Disciplines, as a
support group that defended communities
against eviction from informal settlements
in urban areas, largely as a result of interpolitical party violence. In the early 1990s,
BESG became a key player in shaping planning
and housing policies from local to national
level. Since 1995, BESG has been a leader in
enabling poor communities to access land,
basic services, housing and administrative
justice. BESG is based in Pietermaritzburg,
the capital of KwaZulu-Natal. This makes
it well positioned to serve the two main
centres of Msunduzi and eThekwini, and
the various smaller towns and rural areas in
the KZN Midlands.

Centre for Applied Legal Studies
CALS is a human rights organisation based
at the Wits School of law. The organisation
uses a combination of research, advocacy
and litigation to advance social justice.
Children’s Institute
The Children’s Institute aims to harness
the collective academic capability at the
University of Cape Town to promote enquiry,
to build capacity through teaching and
training, and to present evidence to guide
the development of policies, laws and
interventions for children. In positioning itself
as an independent broker of evidence, the
Institute provides information to those who
are advocating on behalf of children, and
engages in own evidence-based advocacy.
The work of the Children’s Institute takes the
best interests of the child into account and
is aimed at ensuring that children are given
primary consideration by society. In particular,
the Institute pays special attention to
promoting children’s participation in its work,
and advocates for their voices to be heard in
decisions affecting their lives.
Community Advice Offices South Africa
CAOSA is committed to the development and
long-term sustainability of Community Advice
Offices (CAOs). CAOs are small, non-profit
organisations that offer free basic legal and

human rights information, advice and
services to people who are marginalised
through poverty, social circumstances and
geographical location. They are located
mainly in poor and rural communities
throughout South Africa.
Khula Community Development Project
Khula Community Development Project is
a South African company based in Peddie
Eastern Cape. Khula has three focus areas;
they advocate for children’s rights, they offer
victim empowerment to victims of crime and
violence, and they offer legal services to the
indigent members of the Peddie community
working with a number of law clinics, including
the Legal Resources Centre.
The Land and Accountability
Research Centre
LARC is based in the University of Cape
Town’s Faculty of Law. LARC forms part of
a collaborative network, constituted as the
Alliance for Rural Democracy, which provides
strategic support to struggles for the
recognition and protection of rights and living
customary law in the former homeland areas
of South Africa. LARC is particularly interested
by the ways in which laws and policies frame
power relations within these areas and
threaten ongoing initiatives for democratic
change and accountability at the local level.

The Teddy Bear Clinic for Abused Children
TTBC originated in 1986 in response to
an urgent need for medical examinations
for sexually abused children. From there it
has grown into a fully-fledged service for
abused children which includes: forensic
medical examinations, forensic assessments,
counseling, psychological testing and more
recently a diversion programme for youth
sexual offenders.
The organisation has historically supported
the abused child through the Criminal Justice
System to ensure psychological healing takes
place and the child is able to fulfill their place
as a valuable member in society without the
scarring that may perpetuate child abuse in
the future. We have done this through forensic
medical examinations, supportive therapy,
forensic evaluations, psychological testing
and a court preparation programme for
children and parents, for cases that go to court.

Lawyers Against Abuse
LvA was established in 2014 with the mission
to provide holistic legal and psychosocial
support to victims of gender-based violence,
including sexual violence, domestic violence
and child abuse, and to facilitate structural
change through strategic engagement with
state actors and the communities in which
we serve. LvA operates under a communitybased model designed to bring about change
at both individual and systemic levels. LvA
has been based in the Diepsloot community
since 2014.
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New
attorneys
Congratulations to our candidate attorneys who were admitted as attorneys
of the High Court during the year. This is quite the milestone in the career of
any attorney, and we want to convey the pride we have in all of them for this
achievement, which took great time and effort on their part.

Refilwe Chulu

Petra Marais

Saadiyah Kadwa

Devon Turner joined the LRC in 2018. As part
of his articles, his work focused on matters
of forced migration, which is currently part of
the legacy focus area. He was admitted as an
attorney in the Western Cape High Court in
September 2020. Devon now works on matters
that fall under the education focus area.

Refilwe Chulu joined the LRC in 2019,
working on a majority of equality and nondiscrimination (END) cases, which are now
housed under the legacy focus area. She
worked on matters of education under the
new strategy and was admitted as an attorney
in the North West High Court in October 2020.

Petra Marais joined the LRC in 2019. She
worked on matters of equality and nondiscrimination (END), and forced migration which all now fall under the legacy focus area.
Her later work belonged to the education
focus area. She was admitted as an attorney in
the Western Cape High Court in February 2021.

Saadiyah Kadwa joined the LRC in 2019,
working on matters that now fall under the
legacy focus area before moving on to work
exclusively on matters that fall under the
land focus area. She was admitted as an
attorney in the Pietermaritzburg High Court
in February 2021.
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Devon Turner
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LRC Employee Information
April 2020 - March 2021

DIVERSITY
Previously Disadvantaged 94%
White 6%
Male 26%
Female 74%

NATIONAL OFFICE

DURBAN

Govender

Nersan

National Director

Samuel

Sharita

Knight

Louise

Project Operations Administrator

Chetwin

Nicholas

Mbhense

Thabiso

Attorney

Gray

Simone

Junior Attorney

Mase

Sandisiwe

Mackenzie

Topsy

Accountant

Kadwa

Saadiyah

CA

Payroll Administrator

Mbele

Nokuthula

CA

Bhabha

Shaista

Nkambule

Sanele

Accounting Systems Coordinator

Govender

Sandra

Finance Officer

Ndokweni

Zama

Wardle

Esme

Modisaesi

Madile

Maema

Mapule

Project Manager

Sonn

Simone

Project Coordinator (CPT-based)

Saint

Yoemna

Programme Coordinator

Mkatshane

Anelisa

Skomolo

Finance Manager

Attorney/Director

Office/Administration Manager
Receptionist

Office Administrator
HR Generalist
CAPE TOWN
Dass

Sherylle

Andrews

Angela

Attorney

Grants Management Officer

Mudarikwa

Mandy

Attorney

Antonia

Grants Management Officer

Mathiso

Chwayita

Attorney

Motshekga

Moyagabo

Grants Management Officer

Turpin

Anneline

Attorney

Madletyana

Philani

Grants Management Officer

Mgedezi

Lelethu

Attorney

Julien

Lisa-Ann

Resource Mobilsation Officer

Ramphobole

Thabo

Weah

Delysia

Motileni

Khensani

Junior Attorney

Communications Officer

Payne

Amy-Leigh

Junior Attorney

Professional Assistant to ND

Turner

Devon

Junior Attorney

Billy

Anthea

Mhlahlo

Zimkhitha

CA

Marais

Petra

CA

Kreuser

Charlene

CA

Naidoo

Priyanka

CA

Mohammed

Zulfa

Corner

Sakeena

Legal Secretary (CPT-based)

Attorney/Director

CLU
Magardie

Sheldon

Bizos

George

Attorney/Director

Director
Project Operations Administrator

Paralegal

Secretary
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JOHANNESBURG
Limacher

Lucien

Attorney/Director

Nel

Lauren

Attorney

MAKHANDA

Mtshali

David

Attorney

McConnachie

Cameron

Baboo

Shaatirah

Attorney

Attorney

Ektaa

Attorney

van
Schalkwyk

Cecile

Deochand
Gwanyanya

Manson

Attorney

Mguga

Sipesihle

Attorney

Fakir

Naseema

Xolo

Ona

CA

Makwati

Edwin

Moroeng

Tsukudu

CA

Chulu

Refilwe

CA

Morrison

Valencia

Kesa

Nelson

CA

Somandi

Nomfundo

Stevens

Whitney

CA

Moli

Amanda

Motshana

Busisiwe

Mokoena

Ntebaleng

Lebotse

Lerato

Advocate
Researcher

Specialised Administration
Office/Administration Manager
Office Assistant/Relief Receptionist

CA
Office Assistant/Relief Receptionist
Receptionist
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The following supplementary
information does not
form part of the financial
statements and is unaudited:

The Trustees’ are required by the Trust Property Act, 1988, and the trust deed to maintain adequate accounting
records and is responsible for the content and integrity of the financial statements and related financial
information included in this report. It is his responsibility to ensure that the financial statements fairly present
the state of affairs of the trust as at the end of the financial year and the results of its operations and cash
flows for the period then ended, in conformity with the International Financial Reporting Standard for Small and
Medium- sized Entities.
The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standard for
Small and Medium-sized Entities and are based upon appropriate accounting policies consistently applied and
supported by reasonable and prudent judgments and estimates.
The trustees acknowledges that they are ultimately responsible for the system of internal financial control
established by the trust and places considerable importance on maintaining a strong control environment.
To enable the trustees to meet these responsibilities, the trustees set standards for internal control aimed at
reducing the risk of error or loss in a cost effective manner. The standards include the proper delegation of
responsibilities within a clearly defined framework, effective accounting procedures and adequate segregation
of duties to ensure an acceptable level of risk. These controls are monitored throughout the trust and all
employees are required to maintain the highest ethical standards in ensuring the trust’s business is conducted
in a manner that in all reasonable circumstances is above reproach. The focus of risk management in the trust
is on identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all known forms of risk across the trust. While operating
risk cannot be fully eliminated, the trust endeavours to minimise it by ensuring that appropriate infrastructure,
controls, systems and ethical behaviour are applied and managed within predetermined procedures and
constraints.
The trustees are of the opinion, based on the information and explanations given by management, that the
system of internal control provides reasonable assurance that the financial records may be relied on for the
preparation of the financial statements. However, any system of internal financial control can provide only
reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss.
The trustees have reviewed the trust’s cash flow forecast for the year to March 31, 2022 and, in the light of
this review and the current financial position, they are satisfied that the trust has or has access to adequate
resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.
The external auditors are responsible for independently auditing and reporting on the trust’s financial
statements. The financial statements have been examined by the trust’s external auditor and their report is
presented on page 65.
The financial statements set out on pages 65 to 79, which have been prepared on the going concern basis,
were approved by the Trust on 30 November 2021 and were signed on its behalf by:
Approval of financial statements

Detailed Income Statement

N Orleyn

Chairperson: LRC
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Trustee’s Report
The trustees have pleasure in submitting their report on the financial statements of Legal Resource Trust for
the year ended 31 March 2021.
1. Nature of business

5. Trustees

The Legal Resource Trust has an oversight and
fiduciary role with reference to the Legal Resources
Centre to enable Legal Resources Centre to provide
legal services in the public interest to the poor and
vulnerable. There have been no material changes to
the nature of the trust’s business from the prior year.

Ms Noluthando Dorian Bahedile Orleyn
(Chairperson)
Mr Nersan Govender
(National Director: Ex-officio Trust)
Professor Penelope Andrews
Judge Mahendra Ramasamy Chetty
Mr Mziwandile Ezra Davids
Ms Marjorie Ngwenya Flanagan
Mr Ashley Francis
Judge Thabani Sibusiso
Brian Jali
Professor Michael Mervyn Katz
Judge Narandran Kollapen
Ms Joy-Marie Lawrence
Judge Dunstan Mlambo
Ms Lumka Mlambo
Judge Lex Mpati
Judge Taswell Deveril Papier
Professor Christopher Stone

2. Review of financial results and activities
The financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standard for Small and Medium-sized Entities. The
accounting policies have been applied consistently
compared to the prior year.
Full details of the financial position, results of
operations and cash flows of the trust are set out in
these financial statements.
3. Property, plant and equipment
There was no change in the nature of the property,
plant and equipment of the trust or in the policy
regarding their use. At 31 March 2021 the trust’s
investment in property, plant and equipment
amounted to R2 955 120 (2020: R3 038 080).

LEGAL RESOURCES CENTRE

4. Going concern
The financial statements have been prepared on the
basis of accounting policies applicable to a going
concern. This basis presumes that funds will be
available to finance future operations and that the
realisation of assets and settlement of liabilities,
contingent obligations and commitments will occur
in the ordinary course of business.
The ability of the trust to continue as a going
concern is dependent on a number of factors. The
most significant of these is that the Trust continue
to procure funding for the ongoing operations of
the trust. At this time future commitments along
with current cash balances provide assurance of its
ability to sustain operations in the foreseeable future.

6. Auditors
PSTM Auditors Inc were appointed as auditors in
August 2020 for the Trust for the 2020 financial year.
They will continue in office for the 2022 financial
year.
The financial statements set out on page 8, which
have been prepared on the going concern basis,
were approved by the Trust on 30 November 2021,
and were signed on its behalf by:

Approval of financial statements

N Orleyn

Chairperson: LRC

To the Trustees of Legal Resource Trust Opinion
I have audited the financial statements of Legal
Resource Trust (the trust) set out on pages 65 to 79,
which comprise the statement of financial position
as at 31 March 2021, statement of comprehensive
income, statement of changes in equity and
statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and the notes to the financial statements, including
a summary of significant accounting policies.
In my opinion, the financial statements present
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position
of Legal Resource Trust as at 31 March 2021, and its
financial performance and cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with the International
Financial Reporting Standard for Small and Mediumsized Entities and the requirements of the Trust
Property Control Act 57 of 1988.
Basis for Opinion
I conducted my audit in accordance
International Standards on Auditing.

with

My responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Financial Statements section of my
report. I am independent of the trust in accordance
with the sections 290 and 291 of the Independent
Regulatory Board for Auditors’ Code of Professional
Conduct for Registered Auditors (Revised January
2018), parts 1 and 3 of the Independent Regulatory
Board for Auditors’ Code of Professional Conduct
for Registered Auditors (Revised November 2018)
(together the IRBA Codes) and other independence
requirements applicable to performing audits
of financial statements in South Africa. I have
fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities, as
applicable, in accordance with the IRBA Codes
and in accordance with other ethical requirements
applicable to performing audits in South Africa. The
IRBA Codes are consistent with the corresponding
sections of the International Ethics Standards Board
for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants and the International Ethics Standards
Board for Accountants’ International Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (including
International Independence Standards) respectively.
I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
my opinion.

Other Information
The trustees are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the
information included in the document titled “Legal
Resource Trust financial statements for the year
ended 31 March 2021”, which includes the Trust’s
Report as required by the Trust Property Control
Act 57 of 1988 and the supplementary information
as set out on pages 15 to 16. The other information
does not include the financial statements and my
auditor’s report thereon.
My opinion on the financial statements does not cover
the other information and I do not express an audit
opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with my audit of the financial
statements, my responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the
other information is materially inconsistent with
the financial statements or my knowledge obtained
in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If, based on the work I have performed,
I conclude that there is a material misstatement of
this other information, I am required to report that
fact. I have nothing to report in this regard.
Responsibilities of the Trustees for the Financial
Statements
The Trustees are responsible for the preparation
and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with the International Financial
Reporting Standard for Small and Medium-sized
Entities and the requirements of the Trust Property
Control Act 57 of 1988, and for such internal control
as the Trust determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the Trustees
are responsible for assessing the trust’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the Trust either intend to liquidate the trust or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but
to do so.
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Statement of Financial PositioN
Independent Auditor’s Report

as at 31 March 2021

Figures in Rand

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Financial Statements
My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a
high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these financial statements.

•

•

•

As part of an audit in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing, I exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. I also:

LEGAL RESOURCES CENTRE

•

Identify and assess the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and
perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

•

Obtain an understanding of internal control
relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the trust’s internal control.
Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting
policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the Trust.
Conclude on the appropriateness of the Trust’s
use of the going concern basis of accounting
and based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to
events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the trust’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If I conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, I am required to draw attention in my
auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify my opinion. My
conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of my auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause
the trust to cease to continue as a going concern.
Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and
content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements
represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

I communicated with the Trust regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including
any significant deficiencies in internal control that I
identify during my audit.

Note(s)

Assets
Non-Current Assets
Property, plant and equipment

2

Current Assets
Advance to Legal Resources Centre
Cash and cash equivalents

3

Total Assets

2021

2020

2 955 120

3 038 080

0
24 587 671
24 587 671
27 542 791

16 000 000
5 910 968
21 910 968
24 949 048

250
3 092 000
674 182
12 368 866
16 135 298

250
3 092 000
674 182
12 196 435
15 962 867

0
11 407 493
11 407 493
27 542 791

80 512
8 905 669
8 986 181
24 949 048

2021

2020

30 093 690

47 192 110

Equity and Liabilities
Equity
Trust capital
Revaluation reserve
Scholarship reserve
Accumulated surplus

4
5

Liabilities
Current Liabilities
Owed to Legal Resources Centre
Deferred income
Total Equity and Liabilities

Statement of Comprehensive Income
Figures in Rand
Grants and donations

Note(s)
6

Operating expenses
Operating surplus
Investment revenue

7

Unit trust appreciation/(depreciation)

8

(262 510)

(172 857)

29 831 180

47 019 253

91 682

35 235

83 954

8 737

Distribution to Legal Resources Centre

(29 834 385)

(34 823 000)

Surplus (deficit) for the year

(29 658 749)

(34 779 028)

0

0

172 431

12 240 225

Other comprehensive income
Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year

PSTM Auditors Inc
Partner: Phutanang Motsielwa CA(SA), RA
Chartered Accountant (SA) Registered Auditor
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Statement of Changes in Equity
Figures in Rand

Revaluation
reserve

FNK
Scholarship

Total
reserves

Accumulated
surplus

Total
equity

250

0

674 182

674 182

5 621 935

6 296 367

Deficit for the year

0

0

0

0

(5 777 724)

(5 777 724)

Property revaluation

0

2 389 666

0

2 389 666

0

2 389 666

Balance at April 1, 2018

Total comprehensive
deficit for the year

Trust
capital

Statement of Cash Flows

0

2 389 666

0

2 389 666

(5 777 724)

(3 388 058)

Figures in Rand

Note(s)

Cash receipts from customers
Cash paid to suppliers and employees
Cash generated from (used in) operations

Balance at April 1, 2019

0
250

(82 960)

0

(82 960)

0

(82 960)

2 306 706

674 182

2 980 888

(155 789)

2 825 349

12 240 225

12 240 225

Surplus for the year
Adjustment

0

785 294

0

785 294

0

785 294

Total comprehensive
income for the year

0

785 294

0

785 294

12 240 225

13 025 519

Total changes

0

10

Balance at 1 April 2020

250

0

0

111 999

111 999

3 092 000

674 182

3 766 182

12 196 435

15 962 867

172 431

172 431

12 368 866

16 135 298

Surplus for the year
Balance at 31 March 2021

Dividends received
Net cash from operating activities

0

3 092 000

674 182

3 766 182

32 595 514

52 905 729

(30 013 935)

(34 912 897)

2 581 579

17 992 832

91 682

35 235

0

0

2 673 261

18 028 067

(80 512)

80 512

16 000 000

(16 000 000)

83 954

8 737

16 003 442

(15 910 751)

18 676 703

2 117 316

5 910 968

3 793 652

24 587 671

5 910 968

Cash flows (utilised in) / from investing activities
Movement on Legal Resources Centre

0

2020

Cash flows from operating activities

Interest income
Total changes

2021

Advance to Legal Resources Centre
Sale of financial assets
Net cash (utilised in) / from investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Total cash movement for the year
Cash at the beginning of the year
3

LEGAL RESOURCES CENTRE

Total cash at end of the year
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Accounting Policies

1.		
		

Basis of preparation and summary of
ignificant accounting policies

The financial statements have been prepared on
a going concern basis in accordance with the
International Financial Reporting Standard for Small
and Medium-sized Entities. The financial statements
have been prepared on the historical cost basis., and
incorporate the principal accounting policies set out
below. They are presented in South African Rands.
These accounting policies are consistent with the
previous period.
1.1		

The useful lives of items of property, plant and
equipment have been assessed as follows:
Item

Depreciation
method

Useful life

Property

Straight line

25 years

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets
which the company holds for its own use or for
rental to others and which are expected to be used
for more than one period.

The depreciation charge for each period is
recognised in profit or loss unless it is included in
the carrying amount of another asset.

Property, plant and equipment is initially measured
at cost.

Depreciation is not charged to an asset if its
estimated residual value exceeds or is equal to its
carrying amount.

Cost includes costs incurred initially to acquire or
construct an item of property, plant and equipment
and costs incurred subsequently to add to, replace
part of, or service it. If a replacement cost is
recognised in the carrying amount of an item of
property, plant and equipment, the carrying amount
of the replaced part is derecognised.

When indicators are present that the useful lives
and residual values of items of property, plant and
equipment have changed since the most recent
annual reporting date, they are reassessed. Any
changes are accounted for prospectively as a
change in accounting estimate.

Expenditure incurred subsequently for major
services, additions to or replacements of parts of
property, plant and equipment are capitalised if it is
probable that future economic benefits associated
with the expenditure will flow to the company
and the cost can be measured reliably. Day to day
servicing costs are included in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.
LEGAL RESOURCES CENTRE

Depreciation is charged to write off the asset’s
carrying amount over its estimated useful life to its
estimated residual value, using a method that best
reflects the pattern in which the asset’s economic
benefits are consumed by the company.

Property, plant and equipment is subsequently
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
any accumulated impairment losses, except for
land which is stated at cost less any accumulated
impairment losses.
Depreciation of an asset commences when the asset
is available for use as intended by management.

Impairment tests are performed on property, plant
and equipment when there is an indicator that they
may be impaired. When the carrying amount of an
item of property, plant and equipment is assessed
to be higher than the estimated recoverable amount,
an impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss to bring the carrying amount in line with
the recoverable amount.
An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its continued
use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising from the
derecognition of an item of property, plant and
equipment, determined as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying
amount of the item, is included in profit or loss when
the item is derecognised.

1.2		

Financial instruments

INITIAL MEASUREMENT
Financial instruments are initially measured at
the transaction price (including transaction costs
except in the initial measurement of financial
assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value
through surplus or deficit) unless the arrangement
constitutes, in effect, a financing transaction in
which case it is measured at the present value of
the future payments discounted at a market rate of
interest for a similar debt instrument.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE
All other financial instruments, including equity
instruments that are publicly traded or whose fair
value can otherwise be measured reliably, without
undue cost or effort, are measured at fair value
through surplus and deficit.
If a reliable measure of fair value is no longer
available without undue cost or effort, then the
fair value at the last date that such a reliable
measure was available is treated as the cost of the
instrument. The instrument is then measured at
cost less impairment until management are able to
measure fair value without undue cost or effort.

MEASUREMENT

1.3		

Financial instruments carried on the statement of
financial position include bank balances, accounts
receivable and accounts payable. Financial
instruments are initially measured at cost as at trade
date, which includes transaction costs. Subsequent
to initial recognition, the following instruments are
measured as set out below:.

Revenue is recognised to the extent that the trust
has transferred the significant risks and rewards of
ownership of goods to the buyer, or has rendered
services under an agreement provided the amount
of revenue can be measured reliably and it is
probable that economic benefits associated with
the transaction will flow to the trust. Revenue is
measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable, excluding sales taxes and
discounts.

•

Accounts receivable
Accounts receivable are stated at cost less
provision for impairment losses.

•

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash equivalents are short term, highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible to known
amounts of cash and are subject to insignificant
risk in change in value.

Revenue

Interest is recognised, in surplus or deficit, using the
effective interest rate method.

Cash and cash equivalents are measured at
fair value
•

Accounts payable
Accounts payable, which are short-term obligations,
are stated at their nominal value
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Notes to the Financial Statements

6. Grants and Donations
Figures in Rand

2021

2020

8 905 669

3 192 050

334 448

0

Bertha

0

1 500 640

Bloomberg

0

286 322

Deferred Income (Previous financial year)
2. Property, plant and equipment

Donations received in the current financial year
2021

2020

Australian Government

Cost or
revaluation

Accumulated
depreciation

Carrying
value

Cost or
revaluation

Accumulated
depreciation

Carrying
value

Land

1 130 000

0

1 130 000

1 130 000

0

1 130 000

Brot vir de weld

1 746 376

2 981 807

Buildings

2 074 000

(248 880)

1 825 120

2 074 000

(165 920)

1 908 080

Cannon Collins (Comic Relief)

5 701 368

4 920 997

Total

3 204 000

(248 880)

2 955 120

3 204 000

(165 920)

3 038 080

Centre for Health Policy

3. Cash and cash equivalents
Figures in Rand

2021

2020

Cash and cash equivalents consist of:
Bank balances
Stanlib managed funds

0

391 737

Claude Leon Foundation

1 800 000

1 500 000

Constitutionalism Fund

2 000 000

2 000 000

Elma Foundation

4 000 000

4 000 000

Ford Foundation

12 667 758

7 985 727

0

12 677 231

Individual donations

211 281

207 982

Millenium Trust

450 000

0

Mones Michael Trust

100 000

100 000

60 000

60 000

Friends of the LRC
23 960 463

5 367 714

627 209

543 254

24 587 671

5 910 968

ND Orleyn
4. Revaluation reserve
Figures in Rand
Revaluation of Land and Building in Makhanda

2021
3 092 000

2020
3 092 000

5. Scholarship reserve fund
Figures in Rand

2021

2020

FNK fellowship programme

274 662

274 663

VS Scholarship programme

399 518

399 519

Netherlands Government

850 000

464 181

Open Society Foundation

2 174 283

1 500 000

S&P Loewenstein (Investec)

0

1 000 000

500 000

0

Social Justice Initiative

0

1 000 000

Surplus Peoples Project (TA)

0

229 106

The Donaldson Trust

0

100 000

Trim Tab Foundation (J Rupert)

0

10 000 000

32 595 514

52 905 730

(11 407 493)

(8 905 669)

30 093 690

47 192 111

R&A Wise Foundation (Investec)

Total donations received

Reserve arising from donations for the FNK Fellowship programme to support the fellowship / intern programme and the
VS Scholarship programme for administrative staff–training. Funds are available at the discretion of the Trust.

Donations deferred to next financial year

During the 2020/2021 year, no scholarships were awarded.		

Total Grants and Donations income

LEGAL RESOURCES CENTRE

7. Investment revenue
Figures in Rand

2021

2020

Interest revenue

23 960 463

5 367 714

Bank

91 682

35 235

24 587 671

5 910 968
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8. Fair value adjustments
Figures in Rand
Stanlib Unit Trust appreciation

12. Going concern
2021

2020

83 954

8 737

9. Taxation

The existence of the Trust is dependent on the continued support of its donors, by way of grants and donations raised
through the Legal resources Trust. It currently has sufficient funds in hand and expectations of future donations to be able
to continue as a going concern.
13. Events after the reporting period

Approved Public Benefit Organisation
The Legal Resources Trust has been approved as a Public Benefit Organisation and is consequently exempt from tax in
terms of section 10(1)(cN) as read with section 30 of the Income Tax Act.

There were no events after the reporting period which would have a material impact on the results presented nor on the
status as a going concern.
14. Interest rate risk
The Trust has no exposure to changes in interest rate as it has no material borrowings nor is it dependent on interest as
material part of its income.

10. Cash generated from (used in) operations
Figures in Rand

2021

2020

172 431

12 240 225

82 960

82 960

Interest received

(91 682)

(35 235)

Unit Trust appreciation

(83 954)

(8 737)

Surplus (deficit) before taxation
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation

2 501 824

17. Financial risk management

2 581 579

17 992 832

Related party relationships
Legal Resources Centre
The Trust has an oversight and fiduciary responsibility and is responsible for the appointment of the National Director and
ratifying the appointment of certain senior staff members.
Friends of the Legal Resources Centre of South Africa (FOLRC)
Friends of the Legal Resources Centre of South Africa, a charitable organisation, organised and registered in the United
States, raises and invests funds for the principal purpose of supporting the programmes of the Legal Resources Centre
by managing a portfolio out of which such programmes may in whole or in part be financed. FOLRC accepts and holds
contributions made to it. Such funds will only be made available to the Legal Resources Trust when requested, but at the
discretion of the Board of the FOLRC.

2021

2020

LEGAL RESOURCES CENTRE

Related party transactions

The Trust has transitioned its accounting policies to IFRS for SMEs. This has not required any restatement or recalculation
of previous year’s balances within the Financial Statements. As such, it has had no impact on the financial position,
performance and cash flows.

DETAILED INCOME STATEMENT
Figures in Rand

Note(s)

Donor income
0

12 240 225

Gifts and donation income
5

Distribution (to) related party:
Legal resources Centre

2021

2020

29 867 409

47 055 678

Revenue

Grants and donations
Friends of the Legal Resources Centre of South Africa

The Trust has no financial risk profile given that all its holdings are cash or cash equivalent.
18. Transition to IFRS for SMEs

11. Related parties

Figures in Rand

16. Financial instruments

5 713 619

Change in cash advance to LRC
Total cash generated

There is no capital risk as the Trust does not have any debt in its balance sheet.

The Trust has cash holdings in Nedbank and a small holding in Stanlib unit.

Changes in working capital:
Deferred income

15. Capital risk management

Expenses (Refer to page 16)
(29 834 384)

(34 823 000)

Operating surplus
Investment income

7

Unit trust appreciation

8

Distribution to Legal Resources Centre
Surplus (deficit) for the year

226 281

136 432

30 093 690

47 192 110

(262 510)

(172 857)

29 831 180

47 019 253

91 682

35 235

83 954
(29 834 385)

8 737
(34 823 000)

(29 658 749)

(34 779 028)

172 431

12 240 225
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GET INVOLVED

DONATE
You can donate once-off, monthly, quarterly, or annually using a stop order or direct deposit.
You can make a secure payment via GivenGain: https://www.givengain.com/c/lrc/

Alternatively, you can deposit
your donation into the
following bank account:

Account Name:		 Legal Resources Trust
Account Number:		 2957333716
Bank Name: 			Nedbank
Account Type: 		 Savings
Branch Code: 			 198765
SWIFT Code: 			NEDSZAJJ
Reference: 			 Your Name and Contact Number
						For Standard Bank clients, please
						 use Branch Code: 19876500

The LRC is a registered Public Benefit Organisation under section
18A of the South African Income Tax Act and all donations are
tax deductible.
For more information, email donation@lrc.org.za

MAKE A BEQUEST

LEGAL RESOURCES CENTRE

In addition to providing for those nearest and dearest to you, seek
other ways to give your children a better future! Plan your legacy.
Make a bequest to secure freedom, development and equality.
A bequest is a sum of money, items or property left in your will to
another person, group, organisation or charity. Leaving a bequest
to a non-profit organisation means that the deceased’s estate is
able to claim the bequest as a deduction to the estate.
If you already have a will, it is easy to add a section called a
codicil which names the Legal Resources Trust as a beneficiary.
A codicil is prepared and signed just like a will.
To learn more about the process or to inform us of a bequest,
contact us:
Send a letter to the Grants Management Unit,
Legal Resources Centre, P.O. Box 9495, Johannesburg 2000
Or email us on donation@lrc.org.za
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FUNDERS
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The Legal Resources Centre is deeply thankful to the following funders
who make the work that we do possible.

EDUCATION
LAND
LEGACY
Get in touch
LRCSouthAfrica
lrcsouthafrica
Legal Resources Centre
LRCSouthAfrica
https://www.lrc.org.za
CAPE TOWN REGIONAL OFFICE
Block D, Ground Floor, Aintree Office Park
cnr Doncaster & Loch Roads, Kenilworth,
Cape Town 7708
Tel: +27 21 879 2398
Fax: +27 21 423 0935
DURBAN REGIONAL OFFICE
11th Floor, Aquasky Towers,
275 Anton Lembede Street,
Durban 4001
Tel: +27 31 301 7572
Fax: +27 31 304 2823
GRAHAMSTOWN REGIONAL OFFICE
116 High Street, Grahamstown 6139
Tel: 046 622 9230
Fax: 046 622 3933
JOHANNESBURG REGIONAL OFFICE
2nd Floor West Wing, Women’s Jail, Constitution Hill
1 Kotze Street, Braamfontein, Johannesburg 2001
Tel: 011 038 9709
Fax: 011 838 4876
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